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 page 157

The Information Toolkit on pages 154 – 156 of this 
Report directs stakeholders to more information 

It also provides details that stakeholders can use to 
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The Report takes guidance from the King Code of Governance 

Reporting Framework as the basis for preparing and improving its 

Read more about our business model on pages 16 – 17

on pages 74 – 81

The Trustees are responsible for determining the matters that 

The Trustees scan the environment and consider Board and Scheme 

Stakeholder feedback obtained through a range of interactions is also 

The Trustees ensure that the Scheme’s strategic priorities are 

considered in the implementation of the Scheme’s strategic 

on page 11

Combined assurance
The Scheme uses a combined assurance model based on three lines 

  First line:
assurance that the Scheme’s risk management plan is integrated 

  Second line:
and Forensics functions assess the effectiveness of the Scheme’s 

  Third line:
assurance on the Scheme’s financial performance and internal 

external auditors providing independent assurance of the Annual 

Auditor independence
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc have audited the Scheme’s Annual 

Audit tenure and rotation of the designated partner form part of the 
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Sets out the assurances provided for this Report 
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This section also discusses how each of the Scheme’s 

Governance 36
For our regulators and other readers who are 

this chapter provides an overview from the 
Chairperson and a description of the legislation 
governing the Scheme and its governance structures 

Performance

performance of the Scheme 

 
It also includes a review of initiatives 

Information Toolkit

A quick reference guide for contact 

compliments and complaints 
processes and guidance on where 

Unfamiliar terms in the Report?  

Financials

Full Annual Financial Statements and 

Performance Highlights
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Performance 
Highlights

Overview

 

* Withdrawn in 2017.

GCR RATING

MEDICAL SCHEMES

Resolution 
(under 
review)

BBB+

Medihelp
Fedhealth 
Medshield

A+

Bonitas*
Sizwe Hosmed

AA

Momentum

AA+

Discovery  
Health 

Medical 
Scheme
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2.45
Average growth in 
principal members

2.60
Managed care as  
% of gross 
contributions

8.79
Average return  
on investments

34.17
Average age at  
year end 

AA+
Independent credit 
rating for claims-
paying ability

55
Share of open 
scheme market

2.11
Average family size

7.68
Admin fees as % of 
gross contributions

8.92
Pensioner ratio

26.33
Statutory solvency 
level

5
Annualised  
lapse rate

Increase in Scheme principal members

2013 2014

1 
23

1 
11

6

2015 2016
2.33%*

2012

Increase in Scheme lives

2013 2014 2015 2016
1.61%*

2012

2013 2014 2015 2016
%*

2012

Increase in gross contributions

Growth in members' funds

2013 2014 2015 2016
10.10%*

2012

For further detail on 
the Scheme’s 

 
see pages 64 – 73

* Year-on-year change.

KEY HISTORICAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
The Scheme continues to build on its excellent historical 

3Performance Highlights

KEY INDICATORS FROM 2016
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WHO WE ARE
Discovery Health Medical Scheme 

 
Any member of the public can join 
the Scheme, subject to its Rules1

Covering 2 735 191 beneficiaries at 
31 December 2016, it is the largest 
open medical scheme in South Africa 
with an open medical scheme market 
share of 55%2

The Scheme is a non-profit entity governed by the 
Medical Schemes Act3 (the Act), and is regulated by the 

to its members and an independent Board of Trustees 

Read more about the Board and management 
structures on pages 18 – 25

The Scheme operates by way of a formal contractual 
arrangement with Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd, with its 
business model based on Vested®

1 The Scheme Rules are available to registered users at www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/scheme-rules.

We exist for our members
The Scheme’s purpose is to care for our members’ 

equitable and quality healthcare that meets their needs 

87% of contributions 
received are used to fund 

The Scheme’s income is predominantly derived from 

for contributions from members for each year, the 
Scheme’s objective is to return a surplus to meet 
regulatory requirements as well as to have a cushion 

with the fundamental operating principles of a non-profit 

The Scheme’s income is used to fund activities to ensure 
the sustainability of the Scheme as well as those for the 
support and benefit of members – such as innovation, 
administration, managed care, financial advisers and the 

Apart from the reserves and these activities, all of the 

Administration and 
managed care fees

10.3%
Financial adviser and 

Scheme expenses

2.5%
Surplus to member 

reserves

0.2%

Claims

87.0%
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Ensuring the Scheme’s sustainability
The Scheme’s ability to pay claims and its sustainability over the long term are of critical importance to its 

DHMS receives exceptional 
value for its administration  
and managed care expenses 

For every R1 spent on administration and 
managed care fees in 2015, beneficiaries of the 
Scheme derived 

Read more about these 
key aspects of our 
sustainability in our 
Chairperson’s statement, 

review of the year, and 
Discovery Health Medical 
Scheme performance, 
starting on pages 38 and 
64 – 73

Read more about our 
business model and how 
we assess value received 
from Discovery Health 
on pages 16 – 17
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Financial Strength

Absolute reserves

Demonstrates ability 
to meet large, 
unexpected claims 

Pricing sufficiency

Surplus year-on-year 
reflects contribution 
levels that are in line 
with expected 
membership and 

Growth and Sustainability

Membership size

Greater risk pooling means more predictable 
claims experience and accuracy in pricing, 

Membership growth

Continuous growth of young and healthy lives improves 
risk pooling and reflects attractiveness and competitiveness 

Contribution increases

Reflects effective risk management 

Plan movements

stability in benefit design  



How our key stakeholders interact to create value for our members

Contractual arrangement
Provision of services

Financial 
advisers
(brokers)

Council for  
Medical 
Schemes

Administration and 
Managed Care services

Accreditation

Contributions and 
refunds

Healthcare  
relationship

Claims and 
refunds

Contracts on 
behalf of Scheme

Advice

Regulation

Accreditation

DHMS
members

Healthcare 
providers

Scheme 

Safeguards funds

                      Board of Trustees and Board Com

m
itt

ee
s

Read more about how the Scheme creates value for all its 
stakeholders on pages 26 – 35.

1  Subject to any applicable Scheme Rules and restrictions of the Medical Schemes Act.

DHMS members 
Discovery Health Medical Scheme exists for its members. 

wellness by engaging the brightest minds and innovative solutions 
to provide access to affordable, equitable and quality healthcare 
that meets their needs now and into the future.

Any member of the public can join Discovery Health Medical 
Scheme1 and can select from sixteen benefit options and six 
network efficiency discount options designed to cater for a wide 
range of affordability and healthcare needs2.

1

Board of Trustees 
The Trustees oversee the affairs of the Scheme in the best interest 

Trustees are highly skilled individuals who offer their diverse 
knowledge and experience to the Scheme. They may be elected 

elected by Scheme members.

Board Committees 

equipped with the necessary specialist skills. These Committees 
may consist of Trustees and/or additional independent members. 

recommendations in line with their respective mandates.

Council for Medical Schemes 
The CMS is a statutory body responsible for regulating the 

enforces the Act.

4

Discovery Health Medical Scheme 
Discovery Health Medical Scheme is a registered medical scheme, 
and like all other medical schemes in South Africa is a non-profit 

Scheme reserves for the benefit of members. The Scheme exists 

provision of high-quality and affordable healthcare to all of its 
members.

2

Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd  
(Administration and Managed Care Provider) 
Discovery Health has been appointed by the Trustees to provide 
administration and managed care services to the Scheme.

 Member and provider servicing;
 Marketing, communication and advertising;
 Financial services;
 Governance, risk, compliance and internal audit;
 Research and development;
 Actuarial and business analytics;
 

 Fraud and forensics investigation.

Managed care is the provision of appropriate, affordable, quality 
healthcare services through rules-based, clinical and disease 
management programmes.

  Active disease risk management and support services;
 Hospital benefit management services;
 

services; and
 Pharmacy benefit management services.

3

Financial advisers 
Financial advisers (commonly referred to as “brokers”) provide 
members with independent advice about their health plan options 
based on individual medical and affordability needs.

Financial advisers are regulated by and must be registered with 

5

Healthcare providers 
Healthcare providers are the health professionals who deliver 
healthcare services, for example, doctors, nurses, dentists, 
specialists, hospitals, pharmacies and managed care organisations.

6

1

4

2

3

5
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OUR WORLD

 

executive officer of the Scheme and is accountable to the Trustees 
for the day-to-day management of the Scheme and the 

is key to the effective operation of the Scheme. The Principal 

management, business management, financial management, legal, 
compliance and research capabilities.

(Pty) Ltd

8 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration no 1125 9
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OUR OPERATING 
CONTEXT
Healthcare in South Africa is 
governed by the Department 
of Health, which established 
the Council for Medical 
Schemes (CMS) to regulate 
the private healthcare sector 
according to the Medical 
Schemes Act 131 of 1998, as 

the industry and publishes 
regular circulars to guide 
medical schemes on 
interpreting and 

reviews the finances, benefit 
plans and rules of each 

accredits medical scheme 
administrators and managed 
care providers to provide 
services to medical schemes 
and their members, and 
accredits financial advisers to 
provide advice to the public 

1  

During 2016, there were 83 medical schemes 

beneficiaries and with total contributions of 
1

beneficiaries2

All medical schemes in South Africa are non-profit 
entities that operate in a complex and tightly 

for the following year based on utilisation, financial 
performance and industry factors, as well as on 

function of balancing a number of factors – holding 
sufficient reserves to weather times of economic 
difficulty, to address increased utilisation of 

optimising benefits and ensuring equitable 
treatment of all scheme members, while keeping 

Through its Administrator and Managed Care 
Provider, Discovery Health, DHMS works to ensure 
better coordinated and higher quality of care for its 

Scheme also works closely with regulatory 
authorities as necessary, which in the last few years 
has related to Prescribed Minimum Benefit (PMB) 
reforms by the CMS, the National Healthcare 

Commission’s inquiry into private healthcare in 

10 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration no 1125
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OUR 
MATERIAL 
MATTERS

STAKEHOLDER 
NEEDS

SCHEME 
SUSTAINABILITY

NAVIGATING 
THE COMPLEX 
REGULATORY 
LANDSCAPE 

THE VESTED® 
OUTSOURCING 

BUSINESS 
MODEL 

THE SOUTH 
AFRICAN 

HEALTHCARE 
SYSTEM

Our material matters are interrelated, reflect the 
Scheme’s top risks and, with careful management, 
present opportunities for the Scheme to differentiate 
itself, enhance its reputation and protect its leading 

material matters formally on an annual basis in 

Retaining, embedding and 
sustaining the model to ensure 

Working with Discovery Health 
to incorporate the challenges 
and opportunities of disruptive 
change and technological 
developments, and supporting 
innovation in the best interest 

Working effectively with the 
regulatory authorities to navigate 
the outcomes of National Health 

Commission’s Healthcare Market 
 

Strengthening the Scheme’s 
industry-leading and competitive 
positioning and working with 
Discovery Health and the 
industry to increase the focus 
on member wellbeing, reduce 
fragmentation and optimise 
reimbursement models and 

Balancing reserves, 
contributions and benefits 
to ensure financial 
stability and contribution 
affordability for our 
members, in the context 
of increasing economic 
pressures and healthcare 

Empowering and engaging with 
members to ensure excellent 
service delivery and supporting 
healthcare providers to further 
develop a quality of care focus 
in South Africa, for the benefit 
of all our stakeholders and 

11About DHMS



TOP RISKS AND 
MITIGATION 
Contribution competitiveness  
and affordability 
Maintaining annual contribution increases at the lowest possible 
level while offering members access to optimised benefits and 
service levels in accordance with their chosen benefit plan is core 
to the Scheme’s strategy. Claims and therefore contributions are 
expected to continue increasing at a rate higher than consumer 
price inflation (CPI) due to tariff and utilisation increases, supply 
and demand side factors, including new technology, high-cost 
procedures and drugs, and legislative requirements within the 
private healthcare system. Through Discovery Health, the Scheme 
continues to benefit from interventions that support affordability, 
which is fundamental to its ability to attract members whose risk 
profile supports the sustainability of the Scheme.

Insurance risk 
Contribution rates are set before the end of each benefit year for 
the following year. In addition, benefits are changed and 
innovations are introduced with the aim of increasing value to 
members. There is a risk of claims being higher than the expected 
contribution income, taking into account the actual impact of the 
benefit changes and innovations with a resultant negative impact 
on the Scheme’s financial position. New high-cost procedures, 
drugs and devices also place the Scheme at risk from both 
financial and stakeholder impact perspectives. These drivers of 
healthcare utilisation and cost inflation are closely monitored by 
the Scheme and Discovery Health and longer-term strategic 
interventions, as well as shorter-term tactical interventions in 
response to emerging trends, are implemented to mitigate the 
impact on the Scheme’s financial position and sustainability.

Investment risk 
The Scheme invests members’ funds in a variety of asset classes 
with the objective of maximising targeted investment returns, 
within risk appetite parameters set by the Trustees. Careful 
management of the Scheme’s investment strategy by the Scheme 
Office and governing bodies helps to mitigate but does not 
eliminate the risk of counterparties failing to meet their financial 
obligations, and negative movements in the value of the Scheme’s 
investments or income generated from those investments due to 
market factors.

PERFORMANCE AGAINST 
STRATEGIC THEMES 
Lowest healthcare costs

   The average contribution of a Scheme member  
was 14.6% lower1 than the next nine largest open schemes, 
an exceptional achievement given the large  
increase in healthcare utilisation from July 2016. 

   A turnaround of R700 million was achieved from the 
implementation of risk management strategies to address 
excessive utilisation.  

Superior quality of care for members
   The Scheme continually monitors adherence to clinical policies 

and made good progress on integrating the stages  
of disease management.

   Since its publication on the website, the Patient Satisfaction 
Score (PaSS) has been viewed more than 36 500 times and the 
PaSS score has increased from 56% in 2013 to 60% in 2016 in 
response to the sharing of results with hospitals.

   The Scheme also obtains regular reports on quality indicators, 
metrics, standards and benchmarks, and participates in the 
Health Quality Assessment’s annual assessment of quality in 
healthcare by medical schemes. The Scheme participated in the 
CMS’ PMB Review process.

Personalised, predictive,  
preventative approach

   In line with the goal of making members healthier, the 
screening and prevention benefit for at risk members was 
improved and launched in 2017.

   Our members have voluntary access to a world-leading 
science-based wellness programme, Vitality2, and the launch of 
Vitality’s Active Rewards saw increased member engagement, 
with 43% of members on the programme and 23% making use 
of Active Rewards. 

Withstanding unpredictable  
market conditions

   The Scheme manages its investment portfolio in a diversified 
manner with the aim of optimising investment returns within its 
approved risk appetite. 

    Despite the difficult market conditions, the Scheme managed an  
overall investment return of 8.79% for 2016 (2015: 6.01%).

LINK TO 
MATERIAL 
MATTERS  
 
Scheme 
sustainability 
Balancing reserves, 
contributions and benefits to 
ensure financial stability and 
contribution affordability for 
our members, in the context of 
increasing economic pressures 
and healthcare inflation.

The South African 
healthcare 
system  
Strengthening the Scheme’s 
industry-leading and 
competitive positioning and 
working with Discovery Health 
and the industry to increase the 
focus on member wellbeing, 
reduce fragmentation and 
optimise reimbursement 
models and quality of care.

OUR  
STRATEGY
The Trustees regularly review the 
Scheme’s major risks, focus  
areas, potential challenges and 
opportunities and performance 
towards objectives. A formal strategy 
session is held once a year, and the 
Trustees provide regular guidance to 
the Scheme Office on strategic 
direction and responding to 
emerging risks.  
Considering internal and external factors and material 
risks is essential to ensure that the strategy is responsive 
to the operating environment and the needs of 
stakeholders, in the context of the Scheme’s long-term 
sustainability. While these considerations require that the 
strategy evolves over time, its development is always 
guided by the Scheme’s core purpose: to care for our 
members’ health and wellness by engaging the brightest 
minds and innovative solutions to provide access to 
affordable, equitable and quality healthcare that meets 
their needs now and into the future. As such, we 
strongly support the development of a member-centric 
healthcare system.

Once the Trustees have set the strategy, they identify or 
reconfirm relevant strategic themes. These are broken 
down into work streams, aimed at achieving specific 
objectives related to the theme. Key performance 
indicators are set for each work stream so that the 
Trustees can objectively measure progress and assess 
outcomes. The work streams are not necessarily tied to a 
specific benefit year, and may be carried over to the 
following year or even over several years depending on 
the complexity of the objectives. Work streams and 
related objectives are adjusted in response to changing 
circumstances. The work involved in achieving strategic 
objectives (which incorporates risk mitigation) is 
monitored by the Scheme Office through weekly 
management meetings as well as through formal 
individual performance reviews. 

The strategic themes discussed in our 2015 Integrated 
Annual Report have been retained but their wording and 
categorisation has been amended in line with 
management’s priorities, as shown in the table alongside. 
They are shown in relation to the top risks the Scheme 
faces and the material matters that affect its ability to 
create value for members and ensure its sustainability.

LINKING RISKS, STRATEGY  
AND MATERIAL MATTERS

Read more about 
the Scheme’s 

performance on  
pages 66 – 71.

Read more about 
Discovery Health’s 
initiatives for the 
Scheme on pages 
74 – 81.

Read more about 
the Scheme’s 
investment results 
on page 68.
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Linking risks, strategy and material matters continued

TOP RISKS AND 
MITIGATION
Stakeholder engagement 
Although the Scheme exists to serve its members, the quality of its 
relationships with all its other stakeholders enables it to create 
value for members and to remain sustainable. The Scheme 
manages its relationships with all its stakeholders actively, seeking 
to balance their needs and expectations by working collaboratively, 
in good faith and towards a common purpose. In all its 
interactions, the Scheme undertakes to uphold its values and the 
highest ethical standards. The Scheme constantly monitors 
perceptions of members and other stakeholders and any serious 
incidents are managed and monitored by the relevant Board 
Committee.

PERFORMANCE AGAINST 
STRATEGIC THEMES
Member-centric servicing

   Discovery Health’s focus on improving member perception, 
first call resolution, and service levels supported an average 
member perception score of 9.17 out of 10 (2015: 9.13). 
Discovery Health’s ongoing incorporation of new technologies 
to enhance members’ experience and track member 
concerns now includes voice biometrics, web chat and the 
Discovery member app.

LINK TO 
MATERIAL 
MATTERS
Stakeholder needs 
Empowering and engaging with 
members to ensure excellent 
service delivery and supporting 
healthcare providers to further 
develop a quality of care focus in 
South Africa, for the benefit of all 
our stakeholders and society as a 
whole.

Outsourcing risk 
The Scheme conducts its operations through formal arm’s-length 
administration and managed care outsourcing agreements with 
Discovery Health. The failure to execute on these outsourcing 
agreements would result in an inability to service members and 
providers. Discovery Health reports extensively to the Trustees, the 
Board Committees and the Scheme Office on a regular basis, 
which enables the Trustees to ensure that the strategic and 
operational requirements agreed on, and which are set out in 
extensive service level requirements, are met.

Best practice outsourcing
   An expert review of the Scheme’s Vested outsourcing business 

model was conducted, with positive results. 
Recommendations for improvements were made, which the 
Scheme and Discovery Health started implementing 
immediately. Enhancements to the outsourcing model will 
continue to be implemented.

   The Scheme has developed a revised pragmatic, replicable 
methodology for measuring the value added by Discovery 
Health. The methodology showed that in 2015, for every R1.00 
the Scheme spent on administration and managed care 
services, R1.85 of value was added by Discovery Health. This is 
an increase from the R1.73 of value added in 2014. 

The Vested® 
outsourcing 
business model 
Retaining, embedding and 
sustaining the model to ensure 
the best value for our members.  
Working with Discovery Health to 
incorporate the challenges and 
opportunities of disruptive change 
and technological developments, 
and supporting innovation in the 
best interest of our members.

Regulatory impact 
The Scheme operates in a highly regulated environment requiring 
extensive controls to ensure ongoing compliance with its legislated 
obligations. Non-compliance with regulatory requirements would 
adversely affect the operations of the Scheme. Recommendations 
from the Competition Commission’s Healthcare Market Inquiry, 
expected at the end of 2017, and several other regulatory 
developments increase the uncertainty of the Scheme’s operating 
environment. The Scheme maintains constructive relationships with 
its regulators and the Trustees monitor compliance with existing 
legislation and regulation, and ensure adequate preparation for 
any changes, on an ongoing basis.

Excellent governance and  
regulatory response

   Frequent interactions were held with the Scheme’s 
regulators, particularly the CMS, which publishes regular 
circulars and other guidelines to the industry to which the 
Scheme submitted comprehensive responses as required. 
The Scheme continued to engage extensively with the 
Competition Commission’s Health Market Inquiry, including 
making presentations at voluntary public hearings.

   In line with best practice governance, the Scheme follows the 
principles of King III and is moving to incorporate the newly 
released King IV into its governance policies, practices and 
disclosures. The Scheme also formally reviews the Vested 
outsourcing relationship with and value added by its 
Administrator and Managed Care Provider, and embraces the 
Treating Customers Fairly principles.

   In 2016, the Scheme outsourced Trustee elections process to 
an independent electoral body, PwC. 155 nominations were 
received and the candidates were vetted against fit and 
proper criteria. 111 candidates stood for elections at the 
Annual General Meeting and four were elected by members 
and did extensive induction training. Two new Trustees will 
be elected in 2017 and the Scheme will apply the same 
governance practices. 

Navigating the 
complex regulatory 
landscape 
Working effectively with the 
regulatory authorities to navigate 
the outcomes of National Health 
Insurance, the Competition 
Commission’s Healthcare Market 
Inquiry, Prescribed Minimum 
Benefit reforms, and regulatory 
uncertainty.

Governance 
Within a complex and highly regulated environment, the Trustees 
are responsible for ensuring the Scheme’s sustainability and that 
optimised benefits are designed and delivered to members. Their 
fiduciary duties require effective governance structures tailored to 
the needs of the Scheme. Governance failures could impact the 
sustainability of the Scheme, and as such the Trustees ensure that 
governance excellence underpins everything the Scheme does.

Read more about the 
Scheme’s stakeholder 
engagement approach and 
activities pages 26 – 35.

Read more about how 
we operate and Vested 
outsourcing on pages 16 – 17.

Read more about Discovery 
Health’s initiatives for the 
Scheme on pages 74 – 81.

Read more about how we 
are governed on pages 
39 – 59 and the regulatory and 
industry matters dealt with in 
2016 on pages 60 – 61.
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HOW WE 
OPERATE
The Act and the Scheme Rules 
allow the Trustees to appoint 
an accredited administrator 
and managed care provider on 
terms and conditions required 
for the execution of the 
Scheme’s operations.
Discovery Health Medical Scheme purchases its 
administration and managed care services from 
a single provider, Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd, as 
the Scheme believes that this integrated model 
(as opposed to a fragmented model, using 
multiple service providers) delivers optimal 
efficiency and value to members. Administration 
and managed care agreements ensure that 
clearly defined and measured outcomes are 
achieved, and that performance management 
principles through service level agreements 
(SLAs) are strictly adhered to and reported on.

These SLAs set out the expected level of 
performance across a wide range of key 
operational measures. Discovery Health reports 
to the Scheme on contractually agreed key 
performance indicators on a monthly, quarterly 
and annual basis.

The transactional and relational governance 
elements of the working relationship between 
the two organisations are governed by a 
Vested® outsourcing business model.  

Validating the value 
for money Discovery 
Health provides
Our members are better off when the 
Administrator and Managed Care Provider adds 
more value than the fees paid to it by the 
Scheme. A formal value-for-money assessment 

Scheme’s Trustees to evaluate Discovery 
Health’s performance.

In the past, the Scheme used a methodology 

added. This methodology relied on publicly 

the industry the method is no longer suitable. 

from providing basic administration services, 
managing claims costs, making members 
healthier, attracting and retaining members 

The results are expressed as the value added by 
Discovery Health for each Rand paid to it:  
value added of greater than one means that 
Scheme beneficiaries receive more value than 
what has been paid on their behalf.

 
TOTAL VALUE ADDED

2014 PER R1

1.73
2015 PER R1

1.85
 

spent by DHMS on administration and managed 

Discovery Health. This is a 6.9% increase from 

The Scheme engaged Deloitte to review 

methodology is appropriate and that they 

16 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration no 1125
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Our Vested® 
outsourcing 
business model
The outsourcing model used to optimise 

Medical Scheme and Discovery Health is 
Vested outsourcing and aligns with global 
best outsourcing practice.  

A Vested outsourcing agreement is 
characterised by a shared vision and 

working to find the best solutions together. 
The agreement also balances risk and 
reward for both parties, leading to fairness, 
sustainability and the best outcomes. In 
effect, it frees both organisations to do what 
they do best by contracting for results and 
not activities – which allows for innovation, 
improved service and continuous value 
creation.

Vested outsourcing relationships depend on 
active collaboration, transparency, flexibility 
and trust, and commit both organisations to 
the success of each business. This 
strengthens the strategic alignment 
between organisations and encourages a 
value-driven relationship.

The Vested outsourcing business model 
recognises and embeds the Scheme’s 
independence through robust governance 
arrangements, while allowing the Scheme to 
leverage Discovery Health’s considerable 
knowledge, expertise, systems, innovation 

interests of the Scheme and its members. 
The Scheme engages in an operating 
relationship characterised more by insight 
rather than merely oversight, according to 
the five principles of Vested outsourcing.

What this means for 

The improved outcomes from the Vested outsourcing 
business model has seen the following tangible results 
based on the relationship between the Scheme and 
Discovery Health:

 An unmatched record of innovation.

  High levels of member satisfaction with service levels.

  More focused and sustainable clinical risk management 
solutions resulting in significant claims cost reduction.

  Improved stakeholder relations through a shared vision 

  Continued membership growth from an already 
high base.

  Improved outsourcing governance translating into robust 
reporting and evaluation processes.

An expert review of the 
Scheme’s Vested 
outsourcing business 
model was conducted, 
with positive results. 
Recommendations for 
improvements were 
made, which the Scheme 
and Discovery Health 
started implementing 
immediately.

The five core principles of Vested outsourcing have been adapted from “The Vested Outsourcing Manual” 
(Palgrave McMillan, 2011) by Kate Vitasek with Jaqui Crawford, Jeanette Nyden and Katherine Kawamoto.

The outsourced 
relationship is 
focused on 
outcomes and not 

There is 
agreement on 
clearly defined 
and measurable 
outcomes.

The pricing model 
ensures that optimal 

are achieved.

The governance 
structure provides 
the Scheme with 
highly effective 
oversight, as well 
as significant 
insight into the 
manner in which 
the Administrator 
conducts the 
Scheme’s business.

The contracts focus 

achieved, leaving open 
considerable leeway 
with respect to how the 
service provider will 
achieve it.

A SYSTEM OF 
CONTINUOUS 

VALUE 
CREATION

THE CONTINUAL 
IMPROVEMENT 
JOURNEY
Optimising an outsourcing 

organisations have to adapt 
to working in new ways, and 
these changes need to be 
embedded at all levels, 
creating a sustainable system 
for continuous value creation. 
Enhancements to the Vested 
outsourcing business model 
will continue to be 
implemented.
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WHO 
LEADS US
Our Trustees 

high-calibre professionals with diverse skills, 
experience, background and gender. This 
brings multiple perspectives to bear in 
discussion and debate, ensuring robust 
oversight and strategic decision-making. 
The Trustees dedicate a significant amount of time and effort to their 
fiduciary duties, well beyond meeting attendance requirements.  

The Trustees focus their attention on overseeing the Scheme’s 
material matters, in discharging their duties and in ensuring the 

decisions. The Trustees are accountable to the Scheme’s members.  
Their duties include:

  Overseeing and directing the management of the Scheme’s 
outsourced activities performed by the Administrator and 
Managed Care Provider.

  Applying sound business principles to ensure the financial 
soundness of the Scheme.

  Ensuring that proper control systems are employed by and on 
behalf of the Scheme.

  Ensuring that the Scheme Rules and Scheme operation and 
administration comply with the provisions of the Act, and all other 
applicable laws.

  Ensuring that adequate and appropriate information is 
communicated to members regarding their rights, benefits, 
contributions and responsibilities in terms of the Scheme Rules. 

 Overseeing the implementation of strategy.

Trustees may be elected or appointed. At least half of the Trustees 

experience and skills gaps.

Trustees and Committee members are remunerated for their service 
according to the Scheme’s Remuneration Policy.

Read more about the remuneration of Trustees and 
Committee members on pages 54 – 59
of the Annual Financial Statements on page 109 for more 
information.

Read more about the Scheme’s governance structure and 
framework on page 39.

BA LLB

CHAIRPERSON

Acting Judge of the High Court of South Africa on various 
occasions, and has arbitrated various commercial disputes. 

competition cases, accounting and valuation, mining, contractual 
disputes, insurance, aviation and construction disputes, financial 
instruments, banking and regulatory matters.

He also serves on the Remuneration and Stakeholder Relations 
Committees.

MR MICHAEL  
VAN DER 
NEST SC

MR MICHAELM
VAN DER
NEST SC

MBA; BSc (Hons); Health Risk Management & Managed 

instrumental in that entity becoming a formidable competitor 

executive leadership and employee engagement.

on the Remuneration, Non-healthcare Expenses and 
Stakeholder Relations Committees. He previously served on the 
Audit, Risk and Stakeholder Relations Committees as an 
independent member.

MR DAVE 
KING 

MR DAVE
KING 
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MA (Economics); BSc (Hons) Physics

Mr Morrison’s recent work was as an external consultant to 
McKinsey and Company in Johannesburg, for the past four 
years. Previously, he was Special Advisor to the Minister of 

Prior to that he was Head of Public Sector Finance at Rand 

position being Head of Money and Finance policy. He was a 
member of the constitutional negotiations team. 

serves on the Audit, Risk, Investment and Non-healthcare 
Expenses Committees.

MR NEIL 
MORRISON

MR NEIL 
MORRISON

 
BCom (Postgraduate Diploma in Accounting)

Ms Naidoo is a Chartered Accountant. She is a professional 
independent non-executive director and currently serves on a 
number of listed and non-listed company boards, investment 

accounting, banking, investment, risk and general business. She 

Markets where she headed the Debt Structuring Unit. Prior to that 
she was a tax consultant at Deloitte, consulting mostly to financial 
services companies, and before that she was a financial planner 

serves on the Audit, Risk, Investment, Product and Non-healthcare 
Expenses Committees.

MS DAISY 
NAIDOO

MS DAISY
NAIDOO

Masters in Metabolic, Functional and Anti-aging Medicine;  
MMed Sports Science; MBChB; MBA; EDP Economics

Dr Moodley is currently in private practice in Functional and 
Anti-aging Medicine. He is also the Chairman of Pinpoint Solutions, 
a healthcare organisation. In the past he was President of Alexander 

Equity Technology Fund, Partner at Accenture and Principal at 

healthcare. His past and present affiliations include the Young 
Presidents’ Organisation; World Presidents’ Organisation; American 
Academy of Anti-aging Medicine; South African Medical Association; 

Commerce.

Dr Moodley served the Scheme as Chairperson and a member of the 

Investment, Product and Stakeholder Relations Committees.

DR DHESAN 
MOODLEY

DR DHESAND
MOODLEY

 

Mr Waugh has worked as an actuarial consultant for the past  

independent actuary involved in life and short-term insurance.

Committee and also chairs the Non-healthcare Expenses 
Committee.

MR GILES 
WAUGH

MR GILES
WAUGH
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structured finance.

Mr Human was appointed as an independent co-opted member 
 

Non-healthcare Expenses Committee.

MR JOHAN 
HUMAN 

Who leads us continued

MBChB; MRCOG; PhD; FRCOG 1991; FCOG (SA)

Professor van der Spuy is Emeritus Professor/Senior Scholar 

University of Cape Town. She received the Distinguished 

training, Professor van der Spuy has a particular interest in 
women’s health and reproductive medicine. She is an Honorary 

College of Surgeons; the Academy of Medicine, Malaysia; the 
Royal Australasian College of Physicians; the Royal College 

Medicine of South Africa. She is a National Research Foundation 

PROF ZEPHNE 
VAN DER SPUY

BA LLB; Postgraduate Diploma in Labour Law 

 

Stakeholder Relations Committee until his term ended on 

MR PUKE 
MASERUMULE

BA LLB

at the Sampson, Okes, Higgins law practice. He was admitted as 

chaired the Non-healthcare Expenses Committee and served 

MR NOEL  
GRAVES SC

Trustees who retired during 2016Independent co-opted member of the Board
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the Act and Scheme Rules. The Principal Officer is the chief 
executive officer of the Scheme and is accountable to the 

 
the implementation of its strategy.    
The Principal Officer, supported by an executive management team, is key to the effective 
operation of the Scheme. The Principal Officer and the management team collaborate closely 
with the Scheme’s Administrator and Managed Care Provider, Discovery Health, in the 
implementation of strategy and daily operations. The management team’s expertise includes 
medical, actuarial, risk management, business management, financial management, investment, 
legal, compliance and research capabilities.

Office, which is based on best practice, carefully structured and independently benchmarked 
according to the experience and skills required. This is aimed at attracting and retaining 
high-calibre staff.

MR MILTON STREAK

(appointed by the Board in 2009) 

(MM) (Entrepreneurship and New 
Venture Creation)

Mr Streak was the Principal Officer 
during 2016, and resigned with effect 
from 31 December 2016.

Read more about the search for and 
appointment of our new Principal 
Officer in Our Chairperson’s statement 
on page 39.

DR NOZIPHO SANGWENI  
 

 

Occupational Health; Postgraduate Diploma 

MS MICHELLE 
CULVERWELL 

Stakeholder Relations 

MR SELWYN 
KAHLBERG 

CFA; FASSA; FIA; 
 

 

MS 
YASHMITA 
MISTRY  

and Compliance

MR HOWARD 
SNOYMAN 

Law); Dip Sports Management; 
Adv Dip Sports Management; Certified 
Vested Deal Architect (in progress)

MR JAN VAN 
STADEN 

CFA; CA(SA); 

Not shown

21About DHMS



OUR COMMITTEE MEMBERS

MR BARRY STOTT
CA(SA)

Deep understanding of the 
financial services industry; 
member of audit panels, risk 

director at financial services 
institutions.

MR GILES WAUGH
MA; FIA; FASSA

actuarial consultant in South Africa and 
the UK; works as an independent 

MS DAISY NAIDOO
CA(SA); Masters of Accounting (Taxation); 
BCom (Postgraduate Diploma in 
Accounting) 

Deep knowledge of finance, accounting, 
banking, investment, risk and general 

planner for corporate companies.

MR DAVID KING
MBA; BSc (Hons); Health Risk 
Management & Managed Care 
Certificate

Resources Director for over a decade.

MR JOHAN HUMAN
B.Bus.Sc; FIA; FASSA

actuarial and healthcare consulting 

schemes; works in private equity, 
infrastructure fund management and 
structured finance.

MR NEIL MORRISON
MA (Economics); BSc (Hons) Physics

banking and financial markets; has held 

management consulting roles.

1  Milton Streak sat on the Product, Risk, Non-healthcare Expenses and Stakeholder Relations Committees. 
 Scheme executive management also sits on the Risk Committee. More information on the Committees is available on pages 42 – 53.  

Audit

Clinical Governance

Investment

Nomination

Product

Risk

Remuneration

Stakeholder Relations

MR MILTON STREAK                      
            See note below.1

MR JOHN BUTLER SC
MA (Jurisprudence); BA LLB; 
BCom  

Specialist in all aspects of 
commercial litigation, including 
competition law, and an 
arbitrator in commercial 
disputes; has served as an Acting 

DR DHESAN MOODLEY
Masters in Metabolic, Functional and 
Anti-aging Medicine; MMed Sports 
Science; MBChB; MBA; EDP Economics

health insurance gained in private medical 

management consulting at the helm of 
various respected firms.

MR DON ERIKSSON
CA(SA)

business leadership, as an 

director; chairperson of various 
insurance companies, 

committee chairperson for a 
number of bluechip companies. 

MR IMTIAZ AHMED
CA(SA)

Deep understanding of 
financial markets with more 

portfolio manager and director 
at various reputable 
investment houses; member of 
various investment committees 
with a combined asset value in 

MR MICHAEL VAN DER NEST SC
BA LLB

In private practice specialising in the resolution 
and arbitration of a range of commercial 
disputes, including in the insurance industry.
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MR PETER GOSS
MA: Criminal Justice; P/G BTech: Forensic 
Investigation; National Diploma: Police 
Administration; Diploma: Criminal Justice & Forensic 
Investigations; Certificate Programme: Corporate 
Governance. Accreditations: Commercial Forensic 
Practitioner (ICFP); Certified Forensic Investigation 
Professional (CFIP)

focus on governance, risk and strategy, in particular 
fraud risk management, including for medical schemes 

directorships for bluechip companies.

MR ROY SHOUGH
CA(SA); HDipBDP; Certified 
Information Systems Auditor (CISA), 
(Lapsed) through Information Systems 
Audit + Controls Association; ISACA 
Certified Internal Auditor (CIA); IIA

corporate governance, particularly in 
relation to the relevant processes and 
the role, responsibilities and 
effectiveness of boards, directors and 

governance and risk management.

PROF ZEPHNE VAN DER SPUY
MBChB; MRCOG; PhD; FRCOG; FCOG (SA)

reproductive medicine; National Research Foundation 

research in her field.

MR NOEL GRAVES SC
BA LLB

advocate and Senior Counsel.

MRS SUSAN LUDOLPH
CA(SA)

financial and integrated reporting, 

accounting in South Africa; 
established and implemented the 
strategy and work plan of South 
Africa’s first top 100 CFO Forum to 
guide, influence and lead on issues 
affecting CFOs and business.

PROF SELMA SMITH
MBChB; M Prax Med; FCFP(SA)

family medicine and primary care 
in the public sector; has held 
directorships on the governing 
bodies of various industry and 
educational institutions focused on 
improving outcomes in family 
medicine in South Africa.

MR PUKE MASERUMULE
BA LLB; Postgraduate Diploma 

law and general litigation, and 

TOM WIXLEY
CA(SA); BCom

accounting and auditing, and director of 
numerous public companies; published 

governance.

MR STEVEN GREEN
BSc (Hons) Information Systems; 
BSc Computer Science

design and implementation, and  
IT risk assessment and management 
particularly in relation to 

areas, including data analytics, 
working in South Africa, the USA, 
and the UK.

MRS PHILILE MAPHUMULO
CA(SA); M.Com Finance; BCom (Hons)

investment banking; served as a 
 

company boards. 

PROF MIKE SATHEKGE
PhD; MBChB; MMed

Specialist physician and 

implementation of innovative 

therapies in nuclear medicine; 
has received local and 
international recognition for his 
outstanding achievements in 
the public and private 
medical sectors.

Audit

Clinical Governance

Investment

Nomination

Product

Risk

Remuneration

Stakeholder Relations
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HOW WE ADD 
VALUE TO OUR KEY 
STAKEHOLDERS

The quality of the Scheme’s relationships 
with its stakeholders supports its ability to 
fulfil its purpose. Creating lasting value for 
our members requires, necessarily, that the 
Scheme is sustainable in the long term, 
which means also creating value for the 
healthcare ecosystem of which it is a part. 
Balancing the needs and expectations of all 
stakeholders within this ecosystem, and 
thereby for society as a whole, is a constant 
challenge that we embrace wholeheartedly.

OUR VISION 

is to be the best medical  
Scheme in the country. 

In the interests of our members we will always 
pursue excellence, leveraging the Vested® 

outsourcing business model to lead  
healthcare innovation and create value. 

We will work closely with our regulators, our 
administrator and the industry to shape an 

inclusive and complete healthcare 
system in South Africa.

We envision a future in which South Africa has an integrated and 
cohesive healthcare system. To this end, the Scheme’s approach is to 
engage with stakeholders on the understanding that, although needs 
may differ, working collaboratively, in good faith and towards a 
common purpose is the only way to harmonise these needs over 
time. In all its interactions, the Scheme undertakes to uphold its 
values: integrity; mutual respect; adaptability and agility; support and 
care; resilience; the pursuit of excellence; and social responsibility.

Importantly, Discovery Health which provides administration and 
managed care services for our members is completely aligned to our 
purpose, vision and values. Discovery Health is part of the Discovery 
Group, and has a core purpose to make people healthier and 
enhance and protect their lives. 

The Discovery Group is a shared value insurance company whose 
purpose and ambition are achieved through a pioneering business 
model that incentivises people to be healthier, and enhances and 
protects their lives. Their shared value insurance model delivers 
better health and value for clients, superior actuarial dynamics for 
the insurer, and a healthier society.

Read more about Discovery at https://www.discovery.co.za/
discovery_coza/web/linked_content/pdfs/investor_relations/
discovery_sustainable_development_report_2016.pdf. 
report_2016.pdf.

OUR PURPOSE
is to care for our members’ health and wellness

by engaging the brightest minds and innovative solutions 
to provide access to affordable, equitable and quality 
healthcare that meets their needs now and into the future.
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Our approach to stakeholder 
relations
The Stakeholder Relations Committee oversees all stakeholder 
engagement activities and reports to the Trustees on all matters 
within its mandate. The Committee receives regular reports from 
the Administrator and Managed Care Provider on stakeholder 
engagement and perceptions, supplemented by presentations 
and discussions on significant matters of concern to the Scheme. 
The Committee uses a defined risk assessment framework and 
methodology to understand the Scheme’s stakeholders, which 
entails identifying stakeholder groups and assessing their needs. 
The Committee ensures that appropriate management and 
engagement plans are in place and monitors their effectiveness, 
with close attention given to any specific incidents and their 
resolution.

Discovery Health conducts certain of the Scheme’s stakeholder 
engagement work, in accordance with the Vested outsourcing 
business model. For example, Discovery Health responds 

engages with doctors through multiple communication channels 
to demonstrate new tools and initiatives; provides training and 
support to financial advisers on the Scheme’s products; and 
develops healthcare provider networks to keep costs down for 
our members and the Scheme.

APPLYING THE KING IV PRINCIPLES FOR 
SOCIAL AND ETHICAL GOVERNANCE
The Scheme is currently investigating the incorporation of the 
principles espoused by the King IV Report on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa 2016 (King IV), which recommends 
the oversight of and reporting on organisational ethics, 
responsible corporate citizenship, sustainable development and 
stakeholder relationships by means of a mandated Committee. 

driving this process on behalf of the Board. 

Read more about the Stakeholder Relations Committee 
on pages 52 – 53.
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Our approach to ethics
The Scheme operates to the highest ethical standards, 
specifically those relevant to a medical scheme, and as an 
employer. The Scheme’s policies specify the standards of ethical 
behaviour expected of its Trustees and employees in such areas 
as compliance with the law, human rights, employee rights, 

These standards of behaviour are aligned with the ethical values 
and moral duties of King III, and the expectations of the CMS, 

MORAL DUTIES:
  Conscience

  Stakeholder inclusivity

  Competence

  Commitment

  Courage

ETHICAL VALUES 
FOR GOVERNANCE, 
MANAGEMENT 
AND OPERATIONS:

  Discipline

  Transparency

  Independence

  Accountability

  Fairness

  Responsibility

EMBRACING THE FAIR TREATMENT OF 
CUSTOMERS 

The TCF (Treating Customers Fairly) Framework has its 
foundation in sound business principles and good governance. 
The Scheme embraces the TCF principles and recognises their 
relevance to the service that Discovery Health provides to our 
members. As a registered Financial Service Provider in terms of 
the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act 37 of 2002 
(FAIS), Discovery Health has implemented the TCF framework. 

The outcomes of TCF are envisaged to be: 

  Customers can be confident they are dealing with firms where 
TCF is central to the corporate culture. 

  Products and services marketed and sold in the retail market 
are designed to meet the needs of identified customer groups 
and are targeted accordingly. 

  Customers are provided with clear information and kept 
appropriately informed before, during and after point of sale. 

  Where advice is given, it is suitable and takes account of 
customer circumstances. 

  Products perform as firms have led customers to expect, and 
service is of an acceptable standard and as they have been led 
to expect.

 

imposed by firms to change product, switch providers, submit 
a claim or make a complaint. 

How we add value to our key stakeholders continued

The Scheme encourages the reporting of fraudulent or 
unethical behaviour. The Information Toolkit explains 
how on page 155.
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Engaging with our members
Our purpose recognises that the Scheme exists for its members. 
They entrust their healthcare funding needs to the Scheme, 

so that our members can continue to access private healthcare 
of the highest standard. Building and maintaining strong 
relationships with all our other stakeholders supports our ability 
to achieve these objectives.

The Scheme, through Discovery Health, is deeply engaged in 
many quality of care initiatives and ongoing monitoring to ensure 
that our members have access to the safest, most efficient 
healthcare available in South Africa. The Scheme also empowers 
our members with information that is relevant to their needs. 

Discovery Health’s infrastructure and member support systems 
provide a range of engagement options for our members: 

(www.discovery.co.za), through the Discovery Member App on 

information about their benefits, claims and other plan 
information. Various customer satisfaction and operational 

our members’ service expectations are being met.

The Scheme ensures that all our members are continuously 
informed of changes in benefits and contributions, formularies 
and the Rules governing their health plans. This enables them to 
make informed decisions about the plan type best suited to their 
healthcare and affordability needs, even as these needs change.

Do you want to submit a complaint or compliment, or 
lodge a dispute? The Information Toolkit explains how 
on page 155.

9.1710
2016 member perception score

 ENSURING OUR MEMBERS STAY 
SATISFIED
Discovery Health constantly monitors members’ perceptions of 

make use of the call centre. For 2016, the average perception 
score across all these areas was 9.17 out of 10.
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Engaging with our members continued

How we add value to our key stakeholders continued

Examples of feedback to Discovery Health about the 

 Thank you, I’m very impressed with this benefit 
from Discovery. It’s great to know this support is 
available at this difficult time. 

 Thank you, your company has tremendous 
empathy and is really appreciated.

Discovery HomeCare1 is a unique home-based healthcare service, which offers our 
members high-quality nursing and care worker support. Home care has been shown 
to improve the healthcare experience and outcomes when a hospital stay is not 
necessary. Discovery HomeCare provides support and convenience for patients with 
specific conditions, and saves on hospitalisation costs. 

Launched in 2015 as an alternative to hospitalisation for eligible patients, the service 
was developed to prevent hospital admissions, reduce the length of hospital stays 
and to potentially avoid readmissions – thereby adding huge value to the member, 
treating doctor and the Scheme. Highly qualified ICU-trained nurses care for patients 
in the comfort of their own homes, reducing exposure to hospital-acquired 
infections, allowing patients to recover more quickly, improving appropriate hospital 
bed allocation and alleviating the burden of travelling to and from hospital for 
families.

  antibiotics, steroids, enzymes, iron, immunoglobulins and 
fluid replacement.

   moderate to severe wounds not requiring hospitalisation.

   three visits by a qualified midwife for both mother and baby if 
safely discharged one day early.

  
Illness Benefit teams.

more remote areas on a case-by-case basis. The programme has grown strongly 
over the last year with approximately 400 visits per month in 2016, and has realised 
significant savings for the Scheme of R3.3 million from intravenous infusions alone.

“I just wanted to thank you and give you some feedback on my experiences with 
the HomeCare nurses over the last week. They are nothing short of absolutely 
brilliant! During the five days I was tended by Sisters Thandi, Florence, Lebo and 
Anna, they were always on time, absolutely professional, caring and absolutely 
fantastic ambassadors for Discovery. We spent many hours chatting while I was 
taking in IV and they are absolutely passionate about what they do. I cannot 
thank you enough for arranging this. This is so infinitely better than staying in a 
hospital bed it defies comparison.”

run in certain retirement homes in Gauteng, providing quality care for residents 
either in their units or care centres, reducing the need for hospital admissions or 
allowing for earlier discharge to a safe environment for optimal recovery and care.

Over 60% of our members die in a high care or an 
intensive care unit, in line with the international 
norm. But research shows that more than 80% of 
people worldwide wish to die at home.

stages of cancer access to a comprehensive palliative 
care programme, which includes Discovery 
HomeCare. With unlimited benefits, access to 
home-based care and a care coordinator, the service 
has had a significant impact on patients and their 
families by reducing the psychosocial, logistical and 
funding challenges.

  Cover for the involved palliative care 
doctor, palliative care nurses, social worker, 
and other associated services in 
partnership with the Hospice Palliative Care 

   

management.

  
coordinator who supports the patient and 
family throughout, and ensures holistic 

  

In 2015, Discovery Health embarked on an initiative to inform Scheme members of 
the quality of care and patient experience provided by private hospitals, rated by 
members themselves. Since its publication on the Discovery website, the Patient 

results with hospitals. 

 Just to say thank you very much for all your help 
regarding my mom’s sickness. Without the 
assistance of Discovery and Hospice we could 
have not managed on our own. Mom passed 
away very peacefully on Monday. I am lost for 
words at this moment. Love you all although I 
never met you. 

 Thank you so much for your contact. I feel so 
much calmer now that I know there is someone 
to contact and help is available.

 You have no idea how much peace of mind you 
gave my sister the day you called. It has been a 
roller coaster of a time since my dearest 
brother-in-law passed away on the 7th…. In the 
meantime, a big thank you for facilitating 
everything so compassionately.

 Thank you so much for the information, booklets 
etc. but, most of all, thank you for your absolute 
professionalism when you contacted me. This is a 
scary time and things seem to be moving so fast 
so your efficiency and calmness was so welcome 
to me. 

Discovery Health is working to extend this benefit 

palliative care. It is also working with the Hospice 

initiatives for the Scheme, see .

Discovery Health intends to extend these measures of hospital experience to 
include specific clinical outcomes such as mortality and infection rates.

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 YTD June 2016

Continuous investment in the quality of care

Started sharing 
results with hospitals

Started sharing  
results with the public

Logged in members can access PaSS at 
.

1  Discovery HomeCare is operated by Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd, 

services provider.
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CASE STUDY

How we add value to our key stakeholders continued
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Engaging with healthcare
providers and 
professional societies
The Scheme is committed to working in collaboration with and 
supporting healthcare providers in the pursuit of quality, cost-
effective healthcare for their patients – our members.

We believe that healthcare providers (which include doctors and 
specialists, nurses, pharmacists and paramedics, as well as private 
hospital groups and specialist practices), form an integral part of 
South Africa’s healthcare ecosystem and are a national asset.

Healthcare professionals work in a challenging environment of 
rapidly increasing costs, and are often placed in a position of conflict 
between their patients, for whom they wish to provide the best 
possible care, and medical schemes, who must balance the needs of 
all scheme beneficiaries with those of individual members, while 
ensuring sustainability over the long term.

Healthcare inflation was a specific challenge for the entire sector 
during 2016. DHMS and Discovery Health worked closely with 
healthcare providers to implement targeted initiatives to address the 
inflation concerns, while at the same time continuing to provide 
access to quality care via Scheme networks and reimbursement 
arrangements implemented over the last few years.

Most general practitioners and specialists in private practice 
participate in the Scheme’s network and reimbursement 
arrangements, playing a crucial role in ensuring the sustainability 

The Scheme has also led the industry in the implementation 

hospital groups. These, together with effective risk management by 
Discovery Health, have allowed the Scheme to achieve a substantial 
cost advantage over competitor schemes in relation to hospital costs, 
a key component of the Scheme’s claims expenditure. The Scheme 

practices, as well as most other healthcare professionals. These 
arrangements provide members with certainty of cover and a wide 
range of options to avoid co-payments, while also allowing the 
Scheme to comply with Prescribed Minimum Benefit legislation 

The Scheme and Discovery Health engage actively and continuously 
with the representatives of healthcare professionals through their 
respective professional societies, to understand how best to support 
them in meeting quality of care challenges. Regular meetings, 
workshops and thought leadership summits are held where 
pertinent issues affecting healthcare delivery in South Africa and 
other industry issues are examined. Continuous engagement with 
the pharmaceutical industry aims to secure the best possible prices 
of medicines for members, thereby protecting the pool of funds 
from which members’ claims are paid.

In 2016 the following engagement activities were conducted:

  Workgroups with various healthcare providers and professional 
societies to address a variety of topics, including provider 
challenges, new technology and claims coding services continued 
with good progress made in all areas. The focus remained on 
enhancing quality care affordably and sustainably. 

 

underlying industry trends and present the Scheme’s funding 
strategy for 2017. 

  Ongoing engagement with societies and representative bodies in 
the industry.

 

showcase improving quality of care initiatives and collaboration 
with doctors.

service reimbursement to value-based, alternative reimbursement 
models and initiatives that focus on quality of care. These included 
the launch of the Premier Plus initiative with family doctors to 

other disciplines. 

As part of the Scheme and Discovery Health’s continued focus on 
improved quality of care and healthier members, we will look to 
expand our value-based contracts to lower overall healthcare costs 
and remunerate healthcare providers to achieve better clinical 
outcomes.

Value-based contracts with health professionals

Detailed monitoring of  
key dialysis metrics

100% of dialysis centres 
and patients enrolled

Detailed reporting and 
feedback

Length of stay per admission

All length Renal-related 

20
13

20
16

20
13

20
16

5.32

4.84

5.00

4.51

-9.0%

-9.8%

Admission rate

All admissions Renal-related 
admissions

20
13

20
16

20
13

20
16

2.74

2.29

1.54
1.35

-16.4%

-12.3%

specialists and the providers of chronic dialysis. These reports 
highlight specific opportunities for targeted interventions to 
improve the provision of care, clinical outcomes and avoidable 
complications. 

There are currently 1 968 members, 138 specialists, seven 
dialysis providers and 173 chronic dialysis units on the 
programme, and we receive comprehensive clinical results 

The outcomes of this programme have been very positive. 
Targeted interventions by the KidneyCare programme have 
resulted in clinical outcome measures improving by 2.4% from 
2013 to 2016. DHMS patients enrolled on the programme have a 
2.44% lower mortality rate than non-enrolled chronic dialysis 
members. In addition, there has been a significant reduction in 
the hospital admission rate and length of stay between 2013 and 
2016 for those members enrolled on the programme.

disease and over 4 000 of our members suffer from it. 

In response to this growing pandemic, Discovery Health 
established the KidneyCare programme in 2008 to: 

  Ensure coordinated participation by patients, doctors and 
dialysis care providers in improving the quality of dialysis care. 

  Measure and report on the comprehensive management of 
the patient in order to improve care programmes.

  Improve the quality of life for patients on chronic dialysis and 
reduce additional costs incurred, caused by repeat hospital 
admissions and avoidable complications in care.

 Provide educational material to affected Scheme members.

Clinical and pathology data is collected on all Scheme members 
undergoing chronic dialysis. Reporting includes a comprehensive 
member report as well as three-monthly reports to the treating 

PARTNERING WITH RENAL SPECIALISTS TO MEASURE AND IMPROVE OUTCOMES 
IN KIDNEYCARE
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advisers (brokers)

In 2016 the following engagement activities were conducted: 

 

 

 

 

 

The agreement that the Scheme has with Discovery Health 
contains extensive service level requirements, against which 
the Trustees monitor and measure Discovery Health’s 
performance. The engagements between the Scheme and 
Discovery Health are frequent and focus on:

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

pages 16 – 17.



1  Based on 2015 Global Credit Ratings reports for open medical schemes.
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.

In 2016 the following engagement activities were conducted: 

 

 

 

page 21.

bodies 

COUNCIL FOR MEDICAL SCHEMES
The CMS regulates all medical schemes in South Africa. Its 
role includes:

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
www.medicalschemes.com.

THE COMPETITION COMMISSION

www.compcom.co.za/healthcare-inquiry/. 



Governance
04
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The unprecedented spike in the utilisation of benefits posed a 

Scheme’s well-established governance and risk management 

progressive and pragmatic standard for governance recognised 

 

to the Board of Trustees and look forward to their respective 

 

Commission and other stakeholders towards a positive outcome for 

OUR 
CHAIRPERSON’S 
STATEMENT



HOW WE ARE 
GOVERNED
All medical schemes in South Africa are 

Rules are developed in accordance with the 

Additional governance guidance is taken 

Governance framework and 
structure

ensure the best interests of Scheme members are served in the 

In compliance with the Act and the registered Scheme Rules and in 

implemented appropriate governance structures to navigate and 

Scheme Rules are available to registered members at 
www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/scheme-rules

Committees make recommendations to the Board for approval of 

evaluate the implementation of governance structures and processes 

39Governance

The final demarcation regulations for the long-term and short-term 

 

extensive external and internal search for the most suitable 

business and governance experience in both the public and private 

whose exceptional knowledge and dedication to the Scheme has 

 

CHAIRPERSON



OUR BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES
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THE ROLE OF THE TRUSTEES IS TO:
 

 

 

 

 Consider stakeholder perceptions and their impact on the 

skill and good faith in the best interests of the Scheme and its 

THE DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEES, SET OUT IN THE ACT 
AND SCHEME RULES, ARE TO:
  Take all reasonable steps to ensure that the interests of 

beneficiaries in terms of the Scheme Rules and the provisions of 

 

 

  Oversee and direct the management of the Scheme’s outsourced 

 

 

  Ensure that adequate and appropriate information is 



According to the Scheme Rules, “the affairs of the Scheme must be managed 
 

 
 

Board meetings 
attendance in 2016
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Trustees

# – – – – –

# – – – – –

# – – – – –

#*

* – – – – – –

* – – – – – –

* – – –

Independent co-opted 
member

– – – – – – – – – –

Committee

# Term as a Trustee ended on 23 June 2016.

* Elected as a Trustee on 23 June 2016.
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reports to

OUR BOARD 
COMMITTEES

Board Committees

Audit Investment
Clinical 

Governance

healthcare 
Expenses

Product Remuneration Risk
Stakeholder 

Relations

Scheme Office

Board of Trustees mandates
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according to governance best practice and 
Committee members are remunerated for their service to the 

 Committee composition;

 

 

 Interaction between Committee members; and

 



Audit Committee

SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES
The Committee supported the Trustees in fulfilling their governance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Annual Financial Statements start on page 82

Our Audit Committee 
Chairperson

articles with PwC in 

appointed partner in 

audits in the insurance 
and asset management 

a member of the Clientèle Group Investment Committee 

For more about the other Audit Committee 
pages 22 – 25
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Our Board Committees continued

Audit Committee continued

HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS FIDUCIARY 
DUTIES DURING 2016

Read the Audit Committee’s report on pages 85 – 86
more about non-compliance matters on pages 70 – 71

COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS IN 2016

Audit Committee 
attendance in 2016 16
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ug
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ug
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ct

Independent 
member/
Chairperson

Trustees #*

* –

Independent 
members

– – –

# Term as a Trustee ended on 23 June 2016.

* Elected as a Trustee on 23 June 2016.

and the heads of the outsourced administration functions attend all 
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Clinical Governance Committee
This Committee assists the Trustees in the general oversight of 

The Committee comprises members with the requisite skills to 

 

 

 

 Fairness;

 Independence;

 Ethical behaviour; and

 

SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES

The Committee’s responsibilities are to:

 

 

  Ensure the Scheme’s managed care mandate to offer members 

  Consider the member experience through monitoring and 



Clinical Governance 
attendance in 2016 17
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Trustee/Chairperson –

Independent member

Prof Selma Smith

* Elected as a Trustee on 23 June 2016.

 

pages 22 – 25

The Committee obtains regular reports and presentations from 
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The Committee reviews and monitors all initiatives to reduce 

Scheme on pages 74 – 81

Committee in fulfilling its mandate to oversee and improve the 

HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS FIDUCIARY 
DUTIES DURING 2016

utilisation rates and the increase in hospital beds in regions where 

Committee ensured the implementation of multiple strategies to 

Committee considered the various challenges of implementing this 

 
It also noted certain inaccuracies that impact the private medical 

COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS IN 2016
The members included one Trustee who is the Chairperson of the 



Committee which hears and rules on all member disputes in an 

The Committee consists of three members drawn from a panel of 

Read more about how to lodge disputes on page 155

SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES
 

  Ensure that it has sufficient information regarding the dispute to 

 

 

HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS FIDUCIARY 
DUTIES DURING 2016

COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS IN 2016

The Committee can be constituted several times a week to attend to 

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee recommends and oversees the 
implementation and maintenance of investment policies and 

investments made are in the best interest of members and within 

SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES
 

 

allocation principles of the Scheme’s investment portfolio and the 

 

 
and performance of asset managers against established 

 

 

 

  Assist the Trustees in deciding whether to withdraw funds from 

  Supervise the safekeeping and handling of the Scheme’s 

 

  Assist the Trustees in preparing their annual report on investment 

Our Board Committees continued
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HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS FIDUCIARY 
DUTIES DURING 2016
 

  Reviewed the results of the Scheme’s annual due diligence 

 

  Reviewed the performance of asset managers after which certain 

COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS IN 2016
The Investment Committee comprised three Trustees and two 

Investment Committee 
attendance in 2016 01
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Independent 
member/ 
Chairperson

Trustees # –

# –

#

– – –

– – –

Independent 
member

# Term as a Trustee ended on 23 June 2016.

* Elected as a Trustee on 23 June 2016.

 

pages 22 – 25

Committee
The Committee’s responsibilities are to:

  Review and recommend the proposed contracted administration 
and managed care fees to the Trustees for consideration and 

  Review service level agreements and assist the Board to ensure 

 

  Recommend the non-healthcare budget to the Board for 

SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES

to inform the terms of the agreements to be entered into with 

HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS FIDUCIARY 
DUTIES DURING 2016
 

 

®

 

 

  Reviewed reports on the Scheme’s non-healthcare expenses 

 

Read more on how we conduct our operations on 
pages 16 – 17 and more about the Committee members 
on pages 22 – 25
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Non-healthcare Expenses 
Committee attendance in 2016 07
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Independent 
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Scheme 

Principal Officer

# Term as a Trustee ended 23 June 2016.
 

 

* Elected as a Trustee on 23 June 2016.

page 22 – 25

The Committee’s responsibilities are to:

 

for election and their appointment as Trustees; 

 

and

 

The Committee is independent of the Board and comprises 

HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS FIDUCIARY 
DUTIES DURING 2016

  Considered the appointment of PwC’s Forensic Services division to 

  Reviewed and approved the communication to Scheme members 

 

COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS IN 2016

Nomination 
Committee 
attendance in 2016 04

 A
pr

05
 A

pr

06
 A

pr

12
 A

pr

18
 A

pr

25
 A

pr

09
 Ju

ne

22
 S

ep
t

07
 D

ec
Independent 
member/ 
Chairperson

Peter Goss

Independent 
member

Independent 
member

pages 22 – 25

Our Board Committees continued
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Non-healthcare Expenses Committee continued 

COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS IN 2016



Product Committee

SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES

 Clinical appropriateness and best practice;

 

 The best interest of members and fairness;

 

 

HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS FIDUCIARY 
DUTIES DURING 2016
  Reviewed the performance of all benefit plans based on specific 

 

 

PRODUCT COMMITTEE COMPOSITION 

Product Committee 
attendance in 2016 17
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Trustee/ 
Chairperson

Trustees  
# – – –

# – – –

–

# –

Independent 
member

– – –

Scheme 

Principal Officer

# Term as a Trustee ended 23 June 2016.
* Elected as a Trustee on 23 June 2016.

The Committee obtains regular reports and presentations from 

pages 22 – 25

Remuneration Committee
The Committee assists the Trustees to oversee the Scheme’s 

reporting disclosures relating to remuneration are made according 

SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES
 

  Ensure that the Scheme’s remuneration policies are established 

 1  
to maintain an appropriate balance of skills in the Scheme’s 

HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS FIDUCIARY 
DUTIES DURING 2016
 

remuneration practice experts and considering the non-profit 

  Reviewed and recommended to the Trustees for approval 

  Coordinated the executive search and recruitment process for the 
Scheme’s new Principal Officer2

  Reviewed training and development requirements for Scheme 
staff and recommended the approval of the appropriate training 
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Our Board Committees continued
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Remuneration Committee continued 

pages 22 – 25

The Committee comprised two Trustees and an independent 

Remuneration Committee 
attendance in 2016 26
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Independent 
member/
Chairperson

Trustees

# –

–

# Term as a Trustee ended 23 June 2016.
* Elected as a Trustee on 23 June 2016.

The Committee makes regular use of independent remuneration 

pages 22 – 25

Risk Committee
The Trustees established the Risk Committee to ensure good 

The Scheme operates according to a best practice risk management 

The principal purpose and objectives of the Risk Committee  
are to:
 

 

 

 

 

 

including identification of fraud risks and implementation of 
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COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT

The Scheme has implemented a coordinated compliance framework 
to ensure all operations are conducted in accordance with applicable 

monitor and oversee the outsourced operations and a compliance 

COMBINED ASSURANCE

 Scheme management;

 

 

assurance was provided and received in respect of all significant 

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Trustees recognise that risk management is an integral part of 

The Trustees are satisfied that the risk process is effective in 

The Trustees appoint the members of the Committee on an annual 

SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES

HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS FIDUCIARY 
DUTIES DURING 2016
 

presented to the Trustees to provide them with sufficient oversight 
of the Scheme’s risk management profile and allow them to 

 

and performed its annual review of the risk management 

The Committee approved the frameworks and risk appetite 

  Considered regular compliance reports and monitored exposure 

  Approved a combined assurance model and subsequent 

the Audit Committee in making their control statements in the 

  Received reports to assist in delivering the Scheme’s IT governance 

 



Our Board Committees continued

52 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration no 1125

About our Report   |   Performance Highlights   |   About DHMS   |   Governance   |   Performance   |   Financials   |   Information Toolkit

Risk Committee continued 

COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS IN 2016
The Committee comprised three Trustees and five independent 

Risk Committee 
attendance in 2016 16
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Independent 
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Independent 
members
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Scheme  
management

– –

# Term as a Trustee ended 23 June 2016.
* Elected as a Trustee on 23 June 2016.

pages 22 – 25

Stakeholder Relations 
Committee

The Committee also oversees the development and implementation 

ensuring that all legitimate interests of stakeholders are balanced in 

SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES
 

  Ensure that stakeholder engagement plans are implemented 

 

  Report to the Trustees on how the Scheme is managing its 

HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS FIDUCIARY 
DUTIES DURING 2016
 

  Reviewed health professional engagement strategies to encourage 
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COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS IN 2016

requires that one of its members is a member of the medical 

Stakeholder Relations 
attendance in 2016 30
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Trustee/ 
Chairperson

Trustees

# –

– –

Independent 
member

–

Scheme 

Principal Officer

#  Term as a Trustee ended on 23 June 2016.
 

The Committee obtains regular reports and presentations from 

pages 22 – 25
and to read more about how the Scheme engages with its 

pages 26 – 35



TRUSTEE AND 
COMMITTEE 
MEMBER 
REMUNERATION
The Board of Trustees is responsible for the 
development and implementation of a 

as well as the Trustees and Board Committee 

oversight to a Remuneration Committee 

REMUNERATION METHODOLOGY

remuneration benchmarking of non-executive directors of listed 

 

 

 

ADOPTION AND APPROVAL OF REMUNERATION 

APPROVAL OF REMUNERATION POLICY

For more information on the remuneration of Trustees see 
page 109

pages 49 – 50
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DISCOVERY HEALTH 
MEDICAL SCHEME 
REMUNERATION 
POLICY

Report on Governance for South Africa requires corporations to 
develop astute protocols with respect to ensuring that the 
principles of corporate governance are engendered into the 

control of this element of corporate governance constitutes one of 
the most important strategic focus areas for the Scheme on an 

ethical business framework for the establishment of protocols to 

 

accordance with the recommended remuneration practices of 

  LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK FOR 
REMUNERATION POLICIES

 

The provisions relating to remuneration and reward in the 

who are appointed/elected on a non-executive basis and as 
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 THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

running of the Scheme with the aim of maximising value for 

Board of Trustees is strategic oversight and to review the 

Scheme and to ensure that effective mechanisms and 
controls are in place to protect the interests of the members 

potential for unfair influence or conflicts of interest in the 

The Remuneration Committee acts under the delegated 

the Remuneration Committee is to provide an independent 
influence on remuneration decisions made in respect of the 
Board of Trustees and Board Committee members and 

This Committee is constituted of Trustees and independent 

recommendations to the Board of Trustees regarding the 

  DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITY OF 
OVERSIGHT OF SCHEME REMUNERATION 

The Board of Trustees of the Scheme is responsible for the 

for the Board of Trustees and Board Committee members of 

  THE SCHEME’S REMUNERATION 
GOVERNANCE MODEL  

The Scheme adheres to the principles and practices 

performance of the Scheme and the enhancement of 

Furthermore in line with the recommended practices in the 

 REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE

Governance is to provide best practice recommendations to 
enable entities in South Africa to improve their corporate 

Good Governance that promote sound and effective 

remuneration of each individual director and prescribed 

DISCOVERY HEALTH MEDICAL SCHEME REMUNERATION POLICY continued

Trustee and Committee member remuneration continued
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  DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION REGARDING 
REMUNERATION 

Code of Corporate Governance the remuneration policies for 
the Board of Trustees of the Scheme shall be disclosed to 

Code of Corporate Governance the remuneration of the 
Board of Trustees shall also be disclosed to the members at 

Schemes are provided with details of how the proposed 
Trustees and Board Committee member fees were 
determined as well as the details of the independent 
external advisors who provided advice to the Remuneration 
Committee on the structuring of Trustees and Board 

implemented to increase the Board of Trustees’ 

 MARKET BENCHMARKING

The Scheme’s Remuneration Committee uses market trends 

Trustee fees and market trends and independent 
benchmarking of remuneration of positions in the financial 

with information relating to market trends in remuneration 
practices and ensures that the Scheme compensates 

 MITIGATION OF CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

case of the Scheme all Trustees are non-executives and 

non-executive status within the Scheme and are therefore in 

be paid consulting fees for consulting services rendered or to 

  ADOPTION AND APPROVAL OF THE 
SCHEME’S REMUNERATION POLICIES 

The Scheme has established remuneration policies for the 

To enable Scheme members to express their views on the 
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REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
OF THE SCHEME
Trustees are entitled to remuneration in respect of services 

professional fee commensurate with the level of skill and 
expertise required in relation to the nature of the duties and 

remuneration of Trustees is limited to a fee and does not 

remuneration or fees for attending conferences or training 

Scheme that attending a conference or training event is 

REMUNERATION OF BOARD COMMITTEE 
MEMBERS
Board Committee members shall be compensated a 
market-related fee commensurate with the level of skill and 
expertise required in relation to the nature of the duties and 

function of the Board Committee of which he/she is a 

PURPOSE OF POLICY

POLICY STATEMENT

Trustees and Board Committee members are independent 
professionals who are required to give up substantial 
amounts of their time to serve the needs of the Scheme and 

ensure that the appropriate skills are attracted and retained 

THE ROLE OF THE REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee of the Scheme is responsible 
for recommending to the Board of Trustees and the 

and/or fees which the Trustees and Board Committee 

SCOPE OF POLICY

Trustee and Committee member remuneration continued

REMUNERATION POLICY: 
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CALCULATION OF THE REMUNERATION OF 
TRUSTEES AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEMBERS
The Trustees’ and Board Committee members’ remuneration 

Professional fees are based on the market-related fees 

medicine and commerce and will be benchmarked and 

 

 

 

  
of Trustees or Board Committees in the execution of 

  A discount applied to the professional fee for being a 

PARTICIPATION IN INCENTIVE PROGRAMMES
Trustees and Board Committee members are not permitted 

REIMBURSEMENTS

Trustee must complete a Reimbursement Claim Form and 
submit the original tax invoices of the travel expenses he/she 

MARKET BENCHMARKING

the remuneration of Trustees and Board Committee 

uses market trends in professional fees/rates for 

and commerce for determining Trustee and Board 

information relating to market trends in remuneration 
practices and ensures that the Scheme compensates 
Trustees and Board Committee members in accordance with 

fees will be discounted to recognise the non-profit status of 

APPROVAL OF TRUSTEES’ AND BOARD 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS’ REMUNERATION

Remuneration Committee to the Board of Trustees for 
provisional approval and thereafter should be approved 

shall be provided with the required information pertaining 
to the proposed remuneration of the Board of Trustees 

 

REMUNERATION PAYMENT PROCEDURES

APPLICATION OF TRUSTEE LIABILITY 
INSURANCE 
The Scheme must take out and maintain an appropriate level 

DISCLOSURE OF TRUSTEES’ AND BOARD 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS’ REMUNERATION

the remuneration of the Trustees and Board Committee 
members shall also be disclosed to members of the Scheme 

how the proposed Trustees’ and Board Committee members’ 

independent advisers who provided advice to the 
Remuneration Committee on the structuring of Trustees’ and 
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  CIRCULAR 68 OF 2015

  CIRCULARS 20 OF 2015 AND 59 OF 2016

medical schemes that the Registrar had published a notice in the 

submitted comments on this Circular on 13 September 2016 and 

  CIRCULARS 29 AND 36 OF 2015 AND CIRCULAR 37 
OF 2016

notified that the Registrar had published a notice in the Government 

REGULATORY AND INDUSTRY 
MATTERS DEALT WITH IN 2016

  CIRCULAR 47 OF 2016

scheme member information for the purposes of monitoring the 

pertaining to the basic and demographic details of all members and 

presenting and discussing the data specification and collection 

work streams was constituted to examine processes required with 

  CMS INSPECTION 

inspection matter was resolved to the satisfaction of all parties and 

  COMPETITION COMMISSION MARKET INQUIRY 
INTO THE PRIVATE HEALTHCARE SECTOR 

determine whether there are aspects of the South African private 

 

 
www.medicalschemes.com/Publications.aspx
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  NATIONAL HEALTH INSURANCE  

will be established that will procure healthcare services from both 

  SCHEME RULES AND NON-DISCLOSURE 

committing fraud or deliberate non-disclosure against the Scheme; 

  REVIEW OF PMB BENEFITS AND CARE

broader representation and participation of stakeholders to obtain a 

  WAITING PERIODS IN RESPECT OF RELATED 
CONDITIONS

 

The Scheme Rules are available to registered users at 
www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/scheme-rules.
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increase in utilisation of healthcare services 

contributors was a significant increase in 
hospital admission rates emanating from 

increases in admission rates at certain 

This impact was felt across open and closed 

some media coverage on the financial state 

expected an operating loss compared to 

care and managing the utilisation of 

protecting members’ funds and the financial 

 

The global context for the Scheme’s 
challenges included extreme economic 

increases in the utilisation of healthcare 

schemes price their contributions in August 

schemes to respond to such unexpected 

active innovation and collaboration between 

and managed without compromising access 

implications for our members were 

members were assisted in ensuring optimal 

OUR PRINCIPAL 
OFFICER’S REVIEW 
OF THE YEAR
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That we were able to report a positive operating result 

 

place in the Scheme to fund and facilitate their access to 

committed to balancing the needs and expectations of all 

It has been a real privilege serving the members of the 

I leave the management of the Scheme in the capable 

 

PRINCIPAL OFFICER

A word from our 
new Principal Officer

 
I am honoured and 
excited to be taking the 

look forward to a new 

to leverage the solid 

adaptive capabilities of 

 

 

 
I look forward to working with 

and to continuing and growing 
the positive and cooperative 
working relationships we have 

values that guide our conduct and interactions as a matter 

significant step forward to deepen our competitive 

PRINCIPAL OFFICER AS OF 01 JANUARY 2017

I am honoured and 
excited to be 
taking the helm at 
Discovery Health 
Medical Scheme

65Performance



16 Benefit options 6 Network efficiency 
discount options*

 
CORE SERIES

Classic Core

Essential Core

Coastal Core

 
SAVER SERIES 

Classic Saver

Essential Saver

Coastal Saver

 
EXECUTIVE SERIES

Executive

 
COMPREHENSIVE SERIES

Classic Comprehensive

Essential Comprehensive

 
PRIORITY SERIES

 
KEYCARE SERIES 

 
SMART SERIES

Smart

Colours refer to plan types  
depicted above.

KeyCare Series

16%
Core Series

14%

Comprehensive 
Series

14%

Priority 
Series

9%

Executive Series

1%

Smart Series

1%1

2016
Saver Series

45%
(2015 )

(2015 )
(2015 )

(2015 )

(2015 )

(2015 )

Overview

 

 

This solid financial performance increased members’ funds 

1 Launched in 2016.
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Net claims incurred
 

Escalating healthcare costs remain of concern to medical schemes 

drivers of healthcare inflation are tariff increases and higher 

Average annualised inflation rate (2008 – 2016)

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

CPI Tariffs
utilisation utilisation inflation

6.3%
0.5%

2.9%

1.8% 11.5%

Gross contribution income

competitiveness was reflected in average net membership and 

utilised to fund activities for the support and benefit of members 

contributions and net growth in average Scheme membership of 

series experienced the largest decline in principal membership 

Next 9 largest 
open schemes

DHMS Next 9 largest 
open schemes

DHMS Next 9 largest 
open schemes

DHMS Next 9 largest 
open schemes

DHMS Next 9 largest 
open schemes

DHMS

EXTENSIVE DAY-TO-DAY OVERALL WEIGHTEDLIMITED DAY-TO-DAYHOSPITALLOW INCOME

-8.1%
-10.5%

-12.0%

-21.7%

-14.6%

2 303 2 573
3 093 3 367

4 309
4 898

7 923

4 338
5 080

10 115

AVERAGE DHMS CONTRIBUTIONS ARE LOWER*
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Accredited managed care 
services costs

of gross contribution income continued to decline with the 2016 ratio 

 

Gross administration 
expenditure
Gross administration expenditure consists of administration fees paid 

The most significant component of gross administration expenditure 

fee per member rate increase and net growth in average Scheme 

The graph alongside depicts the continued decrease in gross 
administration expenses as a percentage of gross contribution 

Investment results

managed with the aim of optimising returns within its approved risk 

— DHMS    — Other third-party administered
                                 open schemes

12.0%

11.0%

10.0%

9.0%

8.0%

7.0%

Gross administration expenditure as % of gross
contribution income

20152014201320122011201020092008

8.9%9.1%9.1%9.3%
9.4%

9.9%

10.7%10.9%

8.0%
8.2%

8.5%

9.0%9.1%9.3%

10.1%

10.5%

2016

8.0%
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Scheme Rules
The Board of Trustees keeps a constant check on appropriate and 

See more about how to lodge 
complaints or disputes on page 155

the Scheme to maintain accumulated 
funds of 25% of gross annual 

 

 
of gross annual contributions was  

Calculation of regulatory capital 
requirement

31 December 2016 
R’000

31 December 2015 
R’000

Total members’ funds 14 234 461 12 929 011 

Less cumulative net gain on  
–

14 234 461 12 929 011 

Gross annual contributions 54 056 212 

26.33%

Average accumulated funds per member 
R10 971 R10 360 

management
The table alongside shows the high level 
of contribution management achieved 

31 December 2016 
R’000

31 December 2015 
R’000

Gross annual contributions 54 056 212 

24 258 

% outstanding 0.04%

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.0
2012 2013 2014

0.55

0.38

0.26

<800 complaints  
per year out of  

47.6 million 
claims

2015

0.28

2016

0.24
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Reserve accounts
Movements in reserve accounts are set out in the Statement 
of Changes in Funds and Reserves on page 92.

Outstanding claims
Movements in the outstanding claims provision are set out in 
Note 6 to the Annual Financial Statements on page 104.

Personal Medical Savings 
Accounts
The Personal Medical Savings Account (PMSA) enables members to 
manage day-to-day healthcare expenses. Members pay an agreed 
sum of 0%, 15% or 25% of the gross contributions, depending on their 
plan choice, into this savings account. The Scheme advances the full 
annual amount to members for immediate use, although members 
only contribute monthly. The PMSA provides a variety of benefits to 
members for medical expenses outside hospital, such as day-to-day 
medicines, visits to GPs and specialists, dental care and optometry.

The balance remaining in the PMSA at the end of each calendar year 
is carried over to the following year for the benefit of the member.

The Scheme’s liability to members in respect of the PMSA is reflected 
as a current liability in the Annual Financial Statements (Note 8) and  
is repayable in terms of Regulation 10 of the Act. These funds are 
invested separately from the Scheme’s assets and are managed  
by two independent asset managers, Taquanta and Aluwani.  
The average interest earned on these funds was 7.64% in 2016  
(2015: 6.91%).

Going concern
The Trustees are satisfied that the Scheme has adequate resources to 
continue its operations in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the 
Scheme’s Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on the 
going concern basis.

Auditor independence
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc have audited the Scheme’s Annual 
Financial Statements. The Trustees believe the external auditors have 
observed the highest level of business and professional ethics, and 
have acted independently. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the 
auditor was independent of the Scheme.

Executive (350 528) (341 248)

Classic Comprehensive (872 500) (741 888)

Classic Comprehensive 
Zero MSA (2 040) (1 072) 

Coastal Saver (184 640) (31 011)

Coastal Core (32 915) 67 366 

KeyCare Plus (579 629) (314 518) 

The performance of all benefit options is monitored on an ongoing 
basis with a view to improving financial outcomes, and different 
strategies to address the deficit in these plans are continually 
evaluated.

When structuring benefit options, the financial sustainability of all the 
options is considered. The different financial positions reflect the 
different disease burdens in each option, among many other factors. 
The Scheme’s strategy on the sustainability of plans balances short- 
and long-term financial considerations, fairness to both healthy and 
sick members, and continued affordability of cover for members with 
different levels of income and healthcare needs. While the Scheme is 
committed to complying wherever possible with the applicable 
legislation, it also focuses intensively on the overall stability and 
financial position of the Scheme as a whole and not only on individual 
benefit plans.

In addition, DHMS continually provides the Registrar with updates on 
both the Scheme and individual benefit option performance through the 
monthly management accounts and quarterly monitoring meetings.

Section 35 (8) (a) and (c) of the Act states that a medical scheme shall 
not invest any of its assets in the business of an employer who 
participates in the Scheme, or any administrator or any arrangement 
associated with the Scheme. The Scheme has investments in certain 
employer groups and companies associated with medical scheme 
administration within its diversified investment portfolio. This 
situation occurs across the industry. The CMS granted DHMS an 
exemption from these sections of the Act up to 21 April 2018.

The Scheme has no investments in Discovery Holdings Limited, the 
holding company of Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd.

The Scheme’s offshore bond managers utilise derivative instruments 
to aid with efficient portfolio construction and management, and to 
reduce the overall risk within our portfolios. The derivatives used are 
highly liquid and are either exchange traded or governed by 
International Swaps and Derivatives Association agreements. The 
derivative instruments are not used for speculation and there is no 
gearing or leverage applied. Investments in derivatives in territories 
outside the Republic of South Africa are, however, prohibited in terms 
of Category 7 (b) of Annexure B to the Regulations of the Act.

The Scheme was granted an exemption to invest in offshore 
derivatives, subject to certain conditions, up to 31 December 2018.

During August and September, a breach of the Scheme’s foreign 
derivative exemption (Category 7 (b) of Annexure B) occurred when 
the Investec Target Return Bond Fund (collective investment scheme) 
derivative exposure was greater than 2.5% due to large foreign 
exchange fluctuations that occurred because of Brexit. The breach 
was rectified on 21 September 2016. This was duly reported to the 
CMS on 26 October 2016. It should be noted that despite the 
recorded breach at the individual fund level, the fair value of the 
Scheme’s total offshore derivative exposures was only 0.19% of the 
aggregate fair value of Scheme liabilities and minimum accumulated 
funds at 31 August 2016.

The CMS issued Circular 11 of 2006 (the Circular) deals with issues to 
be addressed in the audited financial statements of medical schemes. 
The Circular requires that all instances of non-compliance be 
disclosed in the audited financial statements, irrespective of whether 
the auditor considers them to be material or not.

During the year, the Scheme did not comply with the following 
Sections and Regulations of the Act.

Under the Act, medical schemes are required to hold a minimum of 
25% of gross annual contribution income as a reserve or accumulated 
funds (also known as the solvency ratio). The solvency ratio is a 
measure of a scheme’s ability to absorb unexpected changes in 
claims experience, demographics (e.g. average age, chronic profile, 
etc.) and legislative environments, and therefore reflects a scheme’s 
financial strength.

During 2016, the Scheme’s solvency level dropped below 25% during 
January and November. In January, the drop was attributable to the 
impact of annual contribution increases (schemes are required to 
hold reserves equal to annualised inflation-adjusted contributions 
from the first day of the financial year). In November, the drop was 
due to a negative claims experience in line with historic trends.

At 31 December 2016, the Scheme’s accumulated funds expressed 

25.98%), exceeding the statutory solvency requirement of 25%.

In terms of Section 33 (2) of the Act, each benefit plan is required 

performance, and be financially sound.

For the year ended 31 December 2016 the following plans did not 
comply with Section 33 (2):

Matters of non-compliance for the year ended 31 December 2016

Section 26 (7) of the Act states that all subscriptions or 
contributions shall be paid directly to a medical scheme not later 
than three days after payment becomes due. There are instances 
where the Scheme received contributions after the three days; 
however, there are no contracts in place agreeing to this practice. 
It is important to note that the Scheme has no control over the 
timely payment of contributions. The legal obligation resides with 
the members/employers to pay contributions within the 
prescribed period.

The Scheme applies robust credit control processes to deal with 
the collection of outstanding contributions, including the 
suspension of membership for non-payment.

In terms of Regulation 28 (5) of the Act, broker fees shall be paid 
monthly on receipt by a medical scheme of the relevant monthly 
contribution in accordance with the maximum amount payable 
per Regulation 28 (2), limited to one broker as required by 
Regulation 28 (8). 

In some instances, brokers were compensated prior to receipt of 
the relevant monthly contribution, the amount paid was more 
than the prescribed amount and more than one broker per 
member was paid. In the instances where brokers were paid 
above the prescribed amount or more than one broker was paid, 
the value is negligible and represents less than 0.02% of the total 
broker fees paid for the year. The exceptions relate to transactions 
that do not occur frequently and the Administrator has developed 
exception reporting to identify and correct these transactions, and 
has a well-established claw-back system to rectify commission 
overpayments.

Section 59 (2) of the Act requires a medical scheme to pay a 
member or a supplier of a service any benefit owing to them 
within 30 days after the day on which the claim in respect of the 
benefit is received by the medical scheme. 

During the process of transitioning to a new claims administration 
platform, quality assurance processes were significantly extended 
to ensure valid, accurate and complete processing of claims on the 
new claims administration platform. This process resulted in a 
delay in the processing of claims payments. A total number of 34 
claims were identified that were paid later than 30 days after the 
claims notification date. The value of exceptions should be 
considered in the context of net claims incurred of R36.6 billion 
during 2016. Exceptions identified pertained to a specific event i.e. 
the transition to the new claims administration platform and thus 
no further action is required. The claims administration platform is 
set up to ensure payments occur within regulatory requirements.
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2016
Number of members at the end of the accounting period  829 
Number of beneficiaries at the end of the accounting period
Average number of members for the accounting period  831 
Average number of beneficiaries for the accounting period
Average risk contributions per member per month (R’)  965 
Average risk contributions per beneficiary per month (R’)  879  834  679 
Average net claims incurred per member per month (R’)  754  388 
Average net claims incurred per beneficiary per month (R’)  966  730  701  887  858  829  480  273  564 
Average administration costs per member per month (R’)  298  298  298  298  298  298  298  298  298  298  298  160  86  103  298  300 
Average administration costs per beneficiary per month (R’)  134  131  139  136  130  151  143  142  141  131  135  91  55  73  136  164 
Average managed care: Management services per member 
per month (R’)  92  92  92  92  92  92  92  92  92  92  92  92  92  92  92  92  92 
Average managed care: Management services per 
beneficiary per month (R’)  41  40  43  42  40  46  44  44  43  40  41  52  58  65  42  50 
Average family size at 31 December  2.21  2.28  2.15  2.19  2.29  1.97  2.08  2.09  2.11  2.27  2.22  1.74  1.57  1.42  2.20  1.78  2.11 
Loss ratio (%) 134% 101% 75% 78% 83% 85% 69% 66% 72% 87% 85% 99% 65% 55% 96% 55%
Total non-healthcare expenses as a percentage of risk 
contributions (%) 6% 8% 13% 14% 11% 9% 16% 16% 12% 16% 16% 14% 11% 15% 8% 18%
Average non-healthcare expenses per member per month (R’)  399  401  382  394  401  405  375  384  396  392  377  220  140  149  397  372 
Average non-healthcare expenses per beneficiary per month (R’)  180  176  178  180  175  205  179  183  188  173  170  126  89  105  180  203 
Average age of beneficiaries (years)  42  39  38  31  36  44  34  29  35  33  36  28  34  30  38  29 
Pensioner ratio (beneficiaries over 65 years) 19% 14% 13% 6% 10% 24% 8% 4% 10% 6% 10% 5% 9% 5% 11% 3%
Average relevant health care expenses per member per month (R’)  845  529 
Average relevant health care expenses per beneficiary per month (R’)  774  745  928  899  874  538  372  620 
Net surplus/(deficit) per benefit plan (R’000)

2015
Number of members at the end of the accounting period  753 
Number of beneficiaries at the end of the accounting period
Average number of members for the accounting period  751 
Average number of beneficiaries for the accounting period
Average risk contributions per member per month (R’)  872 
Average risk contributions per beneficiary per month (R’)  974  968  818  776  599 
Average net claims incurred per member per month (R’)*  541  425 
Average net claims incurred per beneficiary per month (R’)*  892  870  690  641  874  797  760  771  344  292 
Average administration costs per member per month (R’)  285  285  285  285  285  285  285  285  285  285  285  153  82  98  285 
Average administration costs per beneficiary per month (R’)  127  124  133  130  124  142  135  135  135  125  129  87  52  68  127  121 
Average managed care: Management services per member 
per month (R’)  87  87  87  87  87  87  87  87  87  87  87  87  87  87  87 
Average managed care: Management services per 
beneficiary per month (R’)  39  38  41  40  38  43  41  41  41  38  40  49  55  60  39  41 
Average family size at 31 December  2.23  2.30  2.14  2.19  2.30  2.00  2.09  2.10  2.12  2.28  2.20  1.76  1.57  1.44  2.26  2.12 
Loss ratio (%) 133% 99% 73% 76% 82% 83% 70% 65% 65% 86% 83% 99% 52% 64% 95%
Total non-healthcare expenses as a percentage of risk 
contributions (%) 6% 8% 13% 14% 11% 9% 16% 16% 12% 17% 17% 14% 11% 16% 8%
Average non-healthcare expenses per member per month (R’)  377  378  362  371  377  378  356  362  372  368  357  208  131  139  374 
Average non-healthcare expenses per beneficiary per month (R’)  168  164  168  170  164  188  169  171  177  161  162  118  83  95  167 
Average age of beneficiaries (years)  42.49  39.74  38.54  32.19  35.94  44.59  35.93  30.71  35.20  32.98  36.78  28.68  34.17  30.43  38.15 
Pensioner ratio (beneficiaries over 65 years) 19% 15% 14% 6% 10% 24% 10% 5% 10% 6% 11% 5% 10% 5% 12%
Average relevant health care expenses per member per month (R’)  628  560 
Average relevant health care expenses per beneficiary per month (R’)  932  910  731  682  916  835  800  813  400  385 
Net surplus/(deficit) per benefit plan (R’000)  (84)  (544) 

*  See note 13 to the Annual Financial Statements for explanatory note on change of disclosure.
** The Smart Plan was introduced in 2016.

for the year ended 31 December 2016
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Discovery Health’s business model

DISCOVERY  
HEALTH’S INITIATIVES 
FOR THE SCHEME
Discovery Health’s vision of an integrated, value-driven 
healthcare system, centred on the needs of members, 
has led to the development of its business model that 
integrates wellness, quality of care and technology into 
a cohesive and sustainable healthcare system. 

PRIMARYCARE
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Discovery Health’s vision for the Scheme 
is that current and potential members 
see the Scheme as providing far more 
than commoditised medical scheme 
benefits, and as delivering an integrated 
healthcare system that ensures that 
Scheme members obtain the best quality 
of care available in South Africa, as well 
as outstanding value. 

Discovery Health provides services that 
go well beyond traditional administration 
and managed care services, including 
ongoing product innovation, best-in-class 
service excellence, effective claims risk 
management, fraud management as well 
as coordination and management of the 
quality of clinical services accessed by 
the Scheme’s members. Discovery Health 
employs more than 4 000 people and 
deploys world-class actuarial, analytic, 
clinical and research and development 
capabilities at every point in the medical 
scheme product cycle. 
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 * 258 working days in a year.

A DAY IN 
THE LIFE OF 
THE SCHEME

Every day* on average in 2016, 
Discovery Health facilitated  

the following for the 
Scheme’s members:

Babies born:

117

New lives:

1 350

Calls handled:

36 600

Claims processed:

250 900

Paid out in claims:

R142 million

Hospital admissions 
authorised:

2 900
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In 2016, over 53% of the Scheme’s members were on Vitality and 
43% were actively engaged, a steady increase from the previous year 
due to the introduction of Vitality Active Rewards. This enables 
members to set weekly exercise goals to access more immediate 
rewards and feedback. Vitality also collaborated with Apple to launch 
Vitality Active Rewards with Apple Watch, which combined the 
functionality and appeal of the Apple Watch with frequent incentives 
to encourage healthy behaviour. The more than 290 000 members 
who signed up for Vitality Active Rewards have demonstrated an 
increase of 25% in their physical activity, and those who use the 
Apple Watch have shown an 81% increase.

Supporting these ongoing healthy behaviours has enabled the Scheme 
to benefit from savings of R1 billion in 20151, through Vitality.

Improving wellness
At the heart of Discovery Health’s drive to make people healthier is 
Vitality, the world’s leading science-based wellness programme. 
Through Vitality, the Scheme’s members can benefit from innovative 
solutions that address their health risks and make them healthier. 
Increased engagement in the programme over time leads to 
substantially improved health outcomes. Externally verified research 
clearly indicates that patients with chronic conditions who are highly 
engaged in the Vitality programme have between 10% and 30% 
lower healthcare costs, fewer admissions to hospital and shorter 
stays in hospital. Vitality members who exercise twice a week are 
13% less likely to be admitted to hospital than those who rarely 
exercise. The greatest benefit is evident in the impact on mortality. 
Members on the two highest Vitality statuses have a life expectancy 
(at age 65) that is eight years longer than members who are not on 
Vitality or who are on the lowest status.

3 –
 5 5+

31%
28%

-37%

VITALITY ACTIVE REWARDS USING WEARABLES 
AND ANALYTICS TO DRIVE BEHAVIOUR CHANGE

Physical activity reduces mortality risk
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 2
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Average workout days 
per week

100%
89%

65%

35% 33%

Unprecedented engagement

More than

25%
increase in physical activity

More than

290 000
active members

More than

3 500 000
weekly rewards

+25%

+81%

Vitality Active 
Rewards

Active Rewards 
with Apple Watch

Incentive-driven behaviour change

Vitality Health 
Checks

255 000
Gym visits 

26 million

HealthyFood 
Baskets bought 

20 million
Flights booked

1.25 million

Movies watched 

2.8 million

Discovery Miles 
earned 

1.7 billion

VITALITY STATISTICS FOR DHMS MEMBERS IN 2016
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Ensuring higher quality healthcare
Discovery Health actively works to improve the quality of healthcare available 
to the Scheme’s members. It enables a cohesive healthcare system in which 
healthcare professionals work in integrated teams better able to share patient 
information, and are paid using innovative alternatives to current fee-for-
service models, such as value-based reimbursement models. 

Discovery Health has developed best-in-class disease management and care 
coordination programmes to improve member’s access to and quality of care. 
These include chronic disease programmes for diabetes, renal failure, HIV, 
mental health, and care coordination programmes aimed at complex patients 
with multiple conditions, such as the ElderCare programme. Some examples of 
these programmes are:

  The Coordinated Care Programme, which provides high-quality coordinated 
care to the Scheme’s sickest members. The programme has been extended 
to more than 6 300 patients across five regions, 16 facilities and five 
home-based care companies. The programme has shown improved quality 
(67% increase in mobility and cognitive functions), a 34% reduction in cost 
per event and more than 33% less hospital admissions. From 2017, the 
programme will be extended to KeyCare members with complex medical 
conditions.

  The KidneyCare Programme in 2008, which has shown improved clinical 
outcomes for members and lower overall healthcare costs. 

Read more about this programme and other initiatives for 
the Scheme’s members on pages 30 – 33.

  The Scheme launched targeted benefits for at risk members including an 
individualised approach to screening, a comprehensive DiabetesCare 
Programme and an external medical items extender benefit. 

  As part of the focus on improving the quality of healthcare delivered to 
members, Centres of Excellence for major joint replacements and 
in-hospital psychiatry have been introduced. Our data along with 
international data shows that clinical outcomes (mortality and readmission 
rates) are significantly improved where there is a higher volume of cases, due 
to the skills and experience that the practising healthcare teams develop. 

  Discovery Health’s HealthID application (app) for health 
professionals is South Africa’s first and most 
comprehensive electronic health record (EHR), which 
provides doctors and other health professionals with a 
complete view of their patient’s health history and test 
results. This improves patient care and reduces the 
likelihood of serious medical errors, as well as reducing duplicate or 
unnecessary pathology tests. The app also reduces the administrative burden 
for doctors and simplifies their engagement in managed care initiatives by, 
for instance, making it quick and easy to fill in chronic illness benefit 
applications, and providing them with the relevant scheme formulary list. 
Discovery Health is consistently enhancing the functionality of HealthID to 
ensure increasing relevance to health professionals treating the Scheme’s 
members. The app is now in regular use by more than 2 780 doctors and has 
more than 1 200 000 member consents.

Outcomes in Centres of Excellence

0.03

0.02 0.02

0.01

High volumeLow volume

0.15

0.09
0.07 0.06

High volumeLow volume

Risk adjusted mortality rate

Risk adjusted readmission rate

TARGETED ENHANCEMENTS FOR 
IMPROVED QUALITY OF CARE
Centres of Excellence

Major joint 
replacements

National network of hospitals  
and specialists

Contracted on quality measures

Co-payment on voluntary 
out-of-network admissions

In-hospital 
psychiatry

National network of accredited 
facilities

Specialised facilities for patients with 
mental health conditions

Co-payment on voluntary 
out-of-network admissions
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DHMS Medical admission trend

 2015 Admission fund

 2016 Admission fund

DRAMATIC TURNAROUND IN DISCOVERY 
HEALTH MEDICAL SCHEME LOSS RATIO DUE  
TO EFFECTIVE INTERVENTIONS

R700 million turnaround in projected DHMS claims – 
equivalent to 2% of total premiums

Full year 
projection as 
at May 2016

Utilisation 
and risk 

management 
interventions

2016  
Actual 

operating 
surplus

2016  
Total surplus

-R600m R703m R102m

R1 305m

Lowering the cost of healthcare
Discovery Health actively manages the cost of healthcare through an 
integrated operating model and various health innovations and 
assets. Some of the strategies Discovery Health employs on behalf of 
the Scheme include a move away from fee-for-service 
reimbursement to value-based contracting with providers. This type 
of contracting includes measures of quality of care and clinical 
outcomes. Discovery Health has already developed and implemented 
several value-based contracts with doctors, and is engaging with the 
industry on identifying other means to reduce healthcare costs. 
Discovery Health continues to grow and maintain provider networks 
that are efficient, drive adoption of cost-effective generic medicines, 
and incorporate technology into the healthcare system – measures 
that together help to counteract medical inflation without 
compromising access to and quality of healthcare.

The turnaround in the Scheme’s loss ratio is evidence of Discovery 
Health’s capabilities and value added to members. In May 2016, the 
Scheme was projecting an operating loss of R600 million for the full 
year. However, Discovery Health’s risk management and utilisation 
interventions supported a turnaround of R700 million, which allowed 
the Scheme to end the year with a R102 million operating surplus, 
and net surplus after investment income of R1 305 million. 

The turnaround was effected mainly by a reduction in inappropriate 
admissions to hospital, as well as through the impact of the 
Scheme’s risk sharing contracts with hospital groups. This reversal in 
the utilisation trend will underpin the Scheme’s ability to continue 
offering lower contribution increases than its competitors in the 
future, as well as the Scheme’s longer-term sustainability.

Discovery Health’s managed care processes and intervention 
resulted in savings of R4.54 billion for the Scheme in 2015. Achieved 
through tariff and alternative reimbursement mechanism (ARM) 
savings, medicine savings, benefit design and funding policy, 
forensics and billing rules and surgical devices management, these 
savings amounted to a 12% reduction in risk claims, equivalent to a 
return of 3.5 times on the Scheme’s investment in managed care 
fees; i.e. for every R1 the Scheme paid in managed healthcare fees, it 
received R3.50 in return1.

By addressing the increasing costs of healthcare holistically and 
adopting an approach that combines Vitality engagement with an 
integrated healthcare system offering, the Scheme can offer 
substantially lower healthcare premium contributions than the rest 
of the market. In 2016, the Scheme’s premiums were 14.6%2 lower 
than the average for the next nine largest open medical schemes, on 
a plan-for-plan basis.
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HEALTH AND 

VITALITY

14.5%
EFFECTIVE REDUCTION  
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R38.9 billion R4.3 billion
11%

R1.35 billion 
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 Age selection
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change
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selection

R33.2 billion

Potential 
risk claims

Risk management 
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on DHMS
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Surgical 
R657

ARMs

Funding 
policy 

Medicines
 R825

Fraud  
and forensics 

R306

DISCOVERY HEALTH AND VITALITY GENERATES SUBSTANTIAL SAVINGS FOR DHMS 

Discovery Health and Vitality had a R5.7 billion 
positive impact on DHMS risk claims in 2015

DISCOVERY HEALTH’S MANAGED CARE INTERVENTIONS

Achieved R4.3 billion savings 
for DHMS in 2015
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Enabling personalised healthcare and 

Mobile and digital technologies such as wearable technologies and big data are driving 
significant change in global healthcare systems. They empower members and their doctors to 
manage their health and health plans more proactively, and improve coordination, quality of 
care and overall experience. Staying abreast of these emerging technologies and applying 
data analytics to gain deep insights is critical for new and unique product designs. 

Discovery Health invests substantially in new technology and innovation to improve its value 
proposition and that of its client schemes to attract more members, an investment that 
amounted to more than R800 million in 2016. This included:

Unlimited hospital cover @ 100%
Admissions outside the Smart Hospital Network are  
subject to a fixed deduction of R8 200.

Full cover for chronic medicine
Through MedXpress, MedXpress partner pharmacies,  
Clicks or Dis-Chem.

Extensive screening and prevention benefits  
when done at any of our wellness providers.

Unlimited GP consultations
R100 per consultation

Dental check-up
One dental check-up a year, with a R150 payment.

Eye test
One eye test a year in the Smart Optometry 
Network, with a R100 payment.

 The Smart Plan – integrates digital platforms, network providers and medical services in a seamless member journey. 
The plan offers the best value for money in the South African open medical scheme market, due to its use of digital 
technology and smart networks to significantly reduce healthcare costs. Its premium contributions are 23% lower than the 
average contributions of comparable health plans from other medical schemes. By incorporating technology, the Scheme 
can attract a tech-savvy, younger generation of members who are empowered to manage their own health plans and 
spending. Launched in January 2016, the plan now has approximately 36 000 members. It has been particularly helpful in 
supporting the Scheme’s efforts to attract new members with a younger demographic profile. The launch of The Essential 
Smart Plan for 2017 extended The Smart Plan range.

 Smart Advisor App 
– an iPad app to make it easier 
for financial advisers to engage 
with members and sign on 

 Direct to Consumer 
Channel (D2C) 
– an online application 
channel for new members.

 The Discovery Member App 
has been extremely successful channel to 
engage with our members. There are 
currently more than 236 000 users, with 
more than 2.6 million logins a month.
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Maintaining world-class  
service levels
In 2016, Discovery Health enhanced its model to ensure the continued 
delivery of quality healthcare in an environment of high medical inflation. 
Its service metrics improved and are considered above international 
benchmarks. 

Benchmark 2016

Time to  
answer calls

Web chat Social media

48 min

78 min

0 min
4 min

19 sec

34 sec

Quickest response time

Benchmark 2016

Customer 

80%

65%

First call 
resolution

81%

73%

Service 
level

82%

76%

Member- 
based 

research 
survey

89.4%

80%

90%

SERVICE QUALITY EXCEEDS BEST 
INTERNATIONAL BENCHMARKS
Leading service metrics

AI Virtual 
Agent

1st in SA healthcare 
Science Hub

 of queries answered 
with 93% accuracy

5 – 10% reduction  
in general calls and emails 
once fully operational

Big Data and Data  
Science Hub

2 Peta Bytes of data

Predictive analytics
for health risk, mortality risk, 
fraud risk, lifestyle choices, etc.

First EHR in SA

2 780+ doctors

1.2 million+ 
member consents

Discovery 
Member App

236 000+ users

 year-on-year user growth

2.6 million+
monthly logins

Discovery Health is investing over R800 million per 
annum in technology and digital innovation
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The Board of Trustees is responsible for ensuring that adequate 

Financial Statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position 

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance 

The Trustees consider that in preparing the Annual Financial 

satisfied that the information contained in the Annual Financial 

also reviewed the other information included in the integrated 

control and incorporate risk management and internal control 

absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded and the risks facing 

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

internal control therefore aims to provide reasonable assurance 

Trustees are satisfied that no material breakdown in the operation 

The Board of Trustees has reviewed the Scheme’s budget for the 

the Trustees have no reason to believe that the Scheme will not be 

has therefore been adopted in preparing the Annual Financial 

1

CHAIRPERSON TRUSTEE PRINCIPAL OFFICER
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Audit Committee terms of reference
The Committee has adopted formal terms of reference that have 

with its terms of reference and has discharged the responsibilities 

Audit Committee members, meeting 
attendance and assessment
The Committee consists of four independent members and three 

The executive officers of the Scheme and representatives of the 

Internal Audit and the External Auditor attend meetings or parts of 

Role and responsibilities

terms of reference and applicable laws and regulations in force 

16
 M

ar

16
 A

ug

23
 A

ug

31
 O

ct

Independent Member/Chair

Trustees 1

2 –

Independent Members 3

3

4 – – –

External Auditor appointment and independence
The Committee considered the matters set out in Section 36 of the 

The Committee has satisfied itself that the external auditor is 

internal governance processes within the audit firm support and 

The Committee ensured that the appointment of the auditor at the 
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Financial statements and accounting practices
The Committee has reviewed the accounting policies and the 

Internal financial controls

Committee that Reasonable Assurance* can be placed on the 

Evaluation of the expertise and experience of the 
Chief Financial Officer and Finance function
The Committee is satisfied with the expertise and experience of the 

resources and experience of the Administrator’s Finance function 

Whistle blowing 

Administrator’s forensic department assists the Committee in 

Ethics and compliance

Risk management
The Committee monitors the risk management processes and 

from and discussions with the Scheme’s internal and external 

Going concern
The Committee has reviewed the Scheme’s financial position as at 

 

 

Board of Trustees could be advised that there is no reason to believe 

Chairperson: Audit Committee



87Financials

Report on the audit of financial statements

Opinion

changes in funds and reserves and the statement of cash flows for 

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 

further described in the 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
 

We are independent of the Scheme in accordance with the 

and other independence 
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial 

responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in 
accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to 

the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

Key audit matters

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

using an actuarial model based on the Scheme’s actual claim 

processing date and amount are used to derive claim development 

We identified this as a matter of most significance in our audit because of 

different relevant claim rules against which the actual claims 

The claims data that was included in the Scheme’s actuarial 
model was agreed to the actual claims data that was tested 

We obtained an understanding from the Scheme’s actuaries 
regarding the process to calculate the outstanding claims 

To test the reasonableness of the Scheme’s estimation process 

compared our results with those of the Scheme and based on 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Other information

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 

Responsibilities of the Trustees for the Financial 
Statements
The Scheme’s trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Scheme’s trustees either intend to liquidate the Scheme or to cease 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements

the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 

 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 

 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 

  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Scheme’s trustees’ use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 

attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

 

determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 

report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 

that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

Non-compliance with the Medical Schemes Act of 
South Africa

amended that have come to our attention during the course of 

Scheme’s accumulated funds expressed as a percentage of gross 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

Registered Auditor
Johannesburg
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R’000 Notes 2016 2015 
ASSETS

 5 614 

 5 614 

 20 864 905

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2  12 211 677 
 54 760  – 

Trade and other receivables 3 2 058 008  1 632 586 
Cash and cash equivalents 

4  4 142 672 
5  2 397 788 

Total assets  20 870 519

FUNDS AND LIABILITIES
 14 234 461 

Accumulated funds  14 234 461 

6 636 058

6  1 121 394 
 4 376  65 210 

8  4 204 043
1 306 245  1 182 605 

Total funds and liabilities 20 870 519

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

R’000 Notes 2016
Restated

2015
Risk contribution income 10  43 626 398 

Relevant healthcare expenditure  (38 035 898)
Net claims incurred* 11   (36 613 210)

11 (36 772 332)
11  159 122 

12  (1 407 267)

13 (15 421)

 (366 344)
  350 923

Gross healthcare result  5 590 500  5 563 114 

Broker service fees 14  (1 101 648)
Expenses for administration  (4 150 194)

15  (236 206)

Net healthcare result  102 452

Other income  1 524 116  1 033 020 

21  1 257 479 
22  264 278  6 504 
23  2 359 

Other expenditure  (321 118)

 (31 076)
24  (290 042)

Net surplus for the year  1 305 450 
Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income for the year  1 305 450
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS AND RESERVES

R’000 Note

2016
Accumulated

funds

2015
Accumulated

funds

 12 929 011  11 652 804 
 1 305 450 

Reserves transferred from other medical schemes 25 –

 14 234 461 

R’000 Notes 2016 2015
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash flows generated from operations before working capital changes  151 902

(500 589)
 136 307 
 467 384
 123 640  151 366 

Cash generated by operations  378 644  1 233 138 
Purchases of financial instruments  (1 922 170)
Proceeds from sale of financial instruments  1 258 510 

 (7 544) –
Cash transferred from other medical scheme –
Interest received 21  1 206 486 

21 50 993 
Interest paid 24  (290 042)

Net cash flows from operating activities  674 877  182 314 
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  674 877  182 314 

 5 865 583 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR  6 540 460  5 865 583 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise 
4  4 142 672 
5  2 397 788 

 6 540 460  5 865 583 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS



93Financials

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General information

1 Basis of preparation  

  The Annual Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with the going concern principle using the historical cost basis except for 

 

 

 New standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2016 and relevant to the Scheme:

Standard Scope Effective date

of financial statements

Benefits
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1 Basis of preparation
 New standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2016 and not relevant to the Scheme:

Standard Scope Effective date

and 
 

Intangible assets

calculate the depreciation of an asset is not appropriate because revenue 

factors other than the consumption of the economic benefits embodied in 

presumed to be an inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of 

 
Separate financial statements

 
Interim Financial Reporting

This amendment states that the required interim disclosures must either 

interim financial report must be available to users on the same terms as 

 

from one of these disposal methods to the other should not be considered 

There is therefore no interruption of the application of the requirements in 

 
statements – The amendment removes the phrase ‘and interim periods 

transactions that are significant to an understanding of the changes in 

Servicing contracts – The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that 

 
Joint arrangements

This amendment adds new guidance on how to account for the acquisition 
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1 Basis of preparation
 New standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2016 and not relevant to the Scheme:

Standard Scope Effective date

Consolidated financial statements 

Investments in associates and 

accounts
This is an interim standard on the accounting for certain balances that 

 

Agriculture

 New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective and relevant to the Scheme:

Standard Scope Effective date

 
IFRS 16 supersedes 

substance of transactions 
involving legal form of a lease

The new standard requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities arising 

A lessee will measure the lease liabilities at the present value of future 

A lessee will not be required to recognise assets and liabilities for 

with customers

instruments
This standard introduces new requirements for the classification and 

contains a new impairment model which will result in earlier recognition of 

risk in other comprehensive income for liabilities designated at fair value 
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2  Classification, recognition, presentation 
and derecognition of financial 
instruments 

  The classification depends on the purpose for which the 

the classification of financial instruments at initial 

the Scheme commits to purchase the financial asset or 

 Offsetting financial instruments
  

there is an intention to realise the asset and settle the 

 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
  The Scheme derecognises a financial asset or part of a 

 The contractual right to the cash flows from the asset 

 The Scheme retains the contractual right to receive cash 

 

 The Scheme neither transfers the financial asset nor 

 

3 Financial assets

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
  The Scheme recognises a financial asset at fair value through 

 

 

 

 Upon initial recognition the Scheme designated the asset 

  A group of financial assets is designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss if it is managed and its performance is 

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 

expensed in the profit or loss section of the Statement of 

  The fair value of the financial instruments traded in an active 

techniques that maximise the use of observable market data 

  Gains or losses arising from subsequent changes in fair 

of Comprehensive Income within the period in which 

 Trade and other receivables
  

4 Foreign currency translation

 Functional and presentation currency
  Items included in the Annual Financial Statements are 

 

 Transactions and balances  
  

losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
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5 Scheme amalgamations
  

  The cost of an amalgamation is measured as the fair value of 
the assets transferred and liabilities incurred or assumed at 

  The Scheme recognises the net assets from amalgamated 
schemes as a direct addition to reserves in its Statement of 

of the parties to amalgamations shall vest and become 

 No goodwill is recognised on the amalgamation of schemes

6 Cash and cash equivalents
  

 

 

 

 

7 Impairment of financial assets 

 Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
  The Scheme assesses at each reporting date whether there 

financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and 

events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 

impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 

assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to 
the attention of the Scheme regarding the following loss 

 

 

contributions when due and if these remain unpaid for 

 

 

decrease in the estimated future cash flows from other 

 

   National or local economic conditions that correlate with 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 

and the amount of the loss is recognised in the Statement of 

been completed and the amount of the loss has been 

written off decrease the amount of the provision for 
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

8 Members’ funds

9 Financial liabilities

  

 Trade payables
  

  Personal Medical Savings Accounts trust 
liabilities 

  

savings claims paid on behalf of members in terms of the 

unbundled since the Scheme can measure the deposit 

do not otherwise require recognition of all obligations and 

  

  

  Advances on savings contributions are funded from the 

10 Provisions
  The Scheme recognises a provision once the following 

   It has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 

 

   A reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can 

  Provisions are measured as the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to 

 Outstanding claims provision  
  Claims outstanding comprise provisions for the Scheme’s 

best estimate of the ultimate cost of settling all claims 

and variations in the nature and average cost incurred 

fee is paid for the full administration service including claims 

does not discount its provision for outstanding claims since 

11 Contingent liability  

 

  A present obligation that arises from past events but not 

 –   It is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 

 –   The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with 
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12 Member insurance contracts  
  Contracts under which the Scheme accepts significant 

  The contracts issued compensate the Scheme’s members for 

13 Contribution income  
  Gross contributions comprise risk contributions and 

   Contributions on member insurance contracts are accounted 

  Risk contributions are shown before the deduction of broker 

14 Relevant healthcare expenditure 
   Relevant healthcare expenditure consists of net claims 

14.1 Claims incurred  
  Gross claims incurred comprises of the total estimated cost 

of all claims arising from healthcare events that have 

 Claims submitted and accrued for services rendered 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  Anticipated recoveries under risk transfer arrangements are 

similar to the assessment of the outstanding claims 

14.2 Risk transfer arrangements
  Risk transfer arrangements are contractual arrangements 

  The claims incurred under member insurance contracts and 
the equivalent claims recoveries are presented in the 

Amounts recoverable under such contracts are therefore 

equivalent receivable are also presented in the Statement of 

  Assets relating to risk transfer arrangements include 
balances due under risk transfer arrangements for 

are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding 

  Amounts recoverable under risk transfer arrangements are 

that the Scheme will receive under the risk transfer 

that a risk transfer arrangement asset is impaired using the 
same process adopted for financial assets held at amortised 
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

14  Relevant healthcare expenditure 
 

14.3  Accredited managed healthcare services (no 
risk transfer)

  

services to the members of the Scheme and are expensed 

  Accredited managed healthcare services are part of 

   

15 Liability adequacy test  
  

estimates of future cash flows under the Scheme’s insurance 

16 Broker service fees  
  Broker service fees are fees paid as acquisition costs for the 

introduction and provision of ongoing services to members 

17  Expenses for administration and other 
operating expenses  

  Fees paid to the Scheme Administrator are included in 

18 Investment income  
  Investment income comprises dividends and interest 

received and accrued on investments at fair value through 

  Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 

outstanding and the effective interest rate over the period 

19  Reimbursements from the road accident 
fund

  

connection with a claim that is also made against the Road 

Scheme accounts for these amounts on a cash basis and 

20 Unallocated funds  
  Unallocated funds arise on the receipt of unidentified 

prescribed is recognised and disclosed under Trade and 

21 Employee benefits  

 Pension obligations
  

further contributions if the funds do not hold sufficient 

 

 Other post-employment obligations  
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21 Employee benefits 

 Other long term employee benefit
  

  The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position in respect of the defined benefit plan is the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the 
reporting period less the fair value of plan assets out of 

 Leave pay accrual
  

 Bonuses
  

22 Income tax
  

23  Allocation of income and expenditure to 
benefit plans

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

plans these amounts are apportioned based on a 

 

these amounts are apportioned based on a percentage of 

 The following items are apportioned based on the number 

24 Structured entities

that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in 

 

 

and rewards associated with the assets of the structured 

 

finance its activities without subordinated financial 

 

instruments to investors that create concentrations of 

  The Scheme has determined that some of its investments in 

of these investments has been made in Note 32 to the 

  The change in fair value of each fund is included in the 
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R’000 2016 2015

Accounting policies

2 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The Scheme’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are summarised by 
measurement classes as follows:

12 211 677 

 1 245 709 
 2 049 834 
 3 413 740  3 058 012 

 610 476 
 4 891 918 

12 211 677 

11 399 332 
1 922 170 

(1 127 159)
17 334 

At the end of the year 12 211 677 

3 Trade and other receivables
Insurance receivables

 1 629 627  1 386 504 

 1 639 386 
 (9 759)

 84 190 

 341 473 
 (257 283)

 24 426 

 6 718  5 051 
 17 708 

 1 084  111 

 1 948 
 (864)

 138 781 

Total receivables arising from insurance contracts  1 878 108  1 525 320 
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R’000 2016 2015

3 Trade and other receivables
Loans and receivables

 20 540  12 024 

 20 540  12 024 

 157 670
 1 690  1 445 

Total receivables arising from loans and receivables  179 900

 2 058 008  1 632 586 

4 Cash and cash equivalents – Personal Medical Savings Account 
trust assets

PERSONAL MEDICAL SAVINGS ACCOUNT TRUST PORTFOLIO

Balance at beginning of the year  1 832 987 
Net additional Investments  82 668  120 220 
Interest Income  154 364 

 1 372 

Balance at the end of the year  2 071 391 

PERSONAL MEDICAL SAVINGS ACCOUNT TRUST PORTFOLIO

Balance at beginning of the year  1 834 469 
Net additional Investments  86 660 
Interest Income  150 152 

Balance at the end of the year  2 071 281 

Total Personal Medical Savings Account trust assets  4 142 672 



104 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration no 1125

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Annual Financial Statements continued

About our Report   |   Performance Highlights   |   About DHMS   |   Governance   |   Performance   |   Financials   |   Information Toolkit

R’000 2016 2015

5 Cash and cash equivalents – medical scheme assets
 Current accounts  940 981  842 123 

 1 456 807  1 356 004 

 2 397 788

6 Outstanding claims provision
 1 103 686 

 17 708 

 1 121 394 

Analysis of movement in outstanding claims
 985 087 

 (951 858)

 33 229

 1 088 165  1 011 335 

1 070 457  1 008 866 
 17 708 

Balance at end of the year  1 121 394 

Analysis of outstanding claims provision
Estimated gross claims  1 192 494 

 (71 100)

Balance at end of the year  1 121 394 
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R’000 2016 2015

7 Derivative financial instruments
Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss

 54 760  – 

Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss

 (4 376)

Derivative financial asset/(liability) at the end of the year  50 384 

Reconciliation of the balance at beginning of the year to the balance at the end of the year:
 (65 210)

Net realised (gains)/losses on derivative financial instruments (Note 29.4)  (131 351)  126 248 

 (136 710)

 (693)
–

(136 017)

 5 359  162 385 

 3 719  – 
 1 640  162 385 

Net fair value gains/(losses) on derivative financial instruments (Note 22)  246 944 

 255 039  8 823 

 9 138  8 823 
 91 072  – 

 154 829  – 

 (8 095)

 – 
 – 
 – 

 (8 095)  – 

Derivative financial asset/(liability) at the end of the year  50 384 

Derivative Instruments 
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R’000 2016 2015

8 Personal Medical Savings Account trust liabilities

 3 736 659 

10 429 814 

10 429 814

 287 923  232 141 
Transfers received from other medical schemes 13 691 

(9 942 225)
Refunds on death or resignation  (321 819)

Balance due to members on Personal Medical Savings Accounts 
held in trust at the end of the year  4 204 043 

 
 

9 Trade and other payables
Insurance payables
Contributions received in advance  137 260 

 1 804 
548 257 

 506 752 
 41 505 

Broker fee creditors  97 234 

 97 234 

Total liabilities arising from insurance contracts 784 555 

Financial liabilities
Balance due to related parties  469 924 

 469 924 

Unallocated funds 2 438
Total accruals 49 328 

General accruals 49 268 
 60  – 

Total arising from financial liabilities 521 690

1 306 245  1 182 605 
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R’000 2016
Restated

2015

10 Risk contribution income
Gross contributions per registered Scheme rules  54 056 212 

(10 429 814)

43 626 398 

11 Net claims incurred
  46 578 250

 46 227 327 
350 923

 136 307 

 (33 229)  26 248 
 169 536  113 044 

  46 714 557 42 431 510 

 (9 942 225)

Claims incurred   36 772 332 33 231 554 
 (159 122)

36 613 210 33 160 818 

 Risk transfer arrangements
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11 Net claims incurred 

 

services were covered under this risk transfer arrangement for the Executive and Comprehensive Plan members who have not 

 

    The estimated claims incurred under this arrangement is determined using the acute medicine claims experience for members not 

R’000 2016 2015

12 Accredited managed healthcare services (no risk transfer)

 453 235  420 464 
 420 400 
 390 788  363 010 
 142 844  131 885 

 1 407 267 

R’000 2016
Restated

2015

13 Net (loss) on risk transfer arrangements*

The Scheme operated the following risk transfer arrangements during the year:

 (366 344)
350 923

(15 421)
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R’000 2016
Restated

2015

14 Broker service fees
Brokers’ fees  1 101 648 

 1 101 648 

15 Other operating expenses
Association fees  1 616  240 
Audit fees  11 594  5 432 

 1 661 –
2 462  2 015 

–  2 550 
 7 471 

1 755 1 246

 1 167 835
588 411

Bank charges  10 681 
Clinical Governance Committee fees  375 

 40 631  38 202 
 3 850  3 222 

 871 
 226  224 

General meeting costs  8 986  3 218 
Investment Committee fees  323  125 
Investment reporting fees  3 416 

 816  542 
 75 167 

571 132
 25 499 

 5 706  5 126 
 1 438  1 502 

 735  550 
Product Committee fees  –  66 
Professional fees  9 548
Remuneration Committee fees  109  68 
Scheme office costs  6 314  4 538 

 20 127 
 293 

Stakeholder Relations Committee fees 129  142 
 5 430 

 236 206 
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R’000 2016
Restated

2015

16 Audit and Risk Committees fees*

Audit Committee fees 1 167  835

603  468
 –  54 

3  –  132 
 158  121

4  64  60 
5  163  – 

5  179  – 

Risk Committee fees  588  411

161  126
–  45
– 

128
57  45

5 113  – 
5 129  – 

 1 755  1 246 
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R’000 2016 2015

17 Net impairment losses
Insurance and other receivables
Contributions that are not collectable  126 

 126 

 76 422  61 005 

 76 422  61 005 

 81  184 

 81  184 

 (1 462)

–

 75 167 

18 Other Committee fees
Nomination Committee fees

 201  44 
 184  44
 186  44

571 132

19 Staff costs
Salaries and bonuses  16 466 
Pension costs – defined contribution plans  1 160 

 699 
 1 563 

 239 

 20 127 

11 11
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20 Trustees’ remuneration and consideration expenses
The following table records the remuneration and consideration paid to Trustees during the year:

Committee fees

31 December 2016

Services as 
Trustee

R’000

Audit 
Committee

R’000

Risk 
Committee

R’000

Investment 
Committee

R’000

Clinical 
Governance 
Committee

R’000

Product 
Committee

R’000

Non-
Healthcare 

Expenditure 
Committee

R’000

Remuneration 
Committee

R’000

Stakeholder 
Relations 

Committee
R’000

Trustee 
Travel
R’000

Total
R’000

M Van Der Nest SC 
(Chairperson)

 
813  –  –  –  –  –  –  66  104  22 1 005 

P Maserumule  206  –  –  95  –  –  –  –  35  –  336 
N Graves SC 247  –  –  46  –  35  64  33  –  13  438 
Z van der Spuy 260  –  –  –  71  45  –  –  –  69  445 
G Waugh  441  129 132  –  –  121  102  –  –  –  925 
D Moodley 207  5 -  56  86  52  –  –  –  24  430 
N Morrison 220  66 71  56  –  5  32  –  –  2  452 
D King 206  – -  –  –  –  41  33  45  59  384 
D Naidoo 469  127 133  132  –  52  91  –  –  11  1 015 

Total 3 069  327 336  385  157  310  330  132  184  200  5 430 

Committee fees

31 December 2015

Services as 
Trustee

R’000

Audit
 Committee

R’000

Risk 
Committee

R’000

Investment 
Committee

R’000

Clinical 
Governance
 Committee

R’000

Product 
Committee

R’000

Non-
Healthcare 

Expenditure
 Committee

R’000

Remuneration
 Committee

R’000

Stakeholder 
Relations 

Committee
R’000

Trustee 
Travel
R’000

Total
R’000

M Van Der Nest SC 
(Chairperson) 602  –  –  –  –  –  –  53  91  –  746 
P Maserumule 314  –  –  155  –  –  –  –  71  –  540 
N Graves SC 336  –  –  115  –  79  101  53  –  –  684 
Z van der Spuy 324  –  –  –  122  79  –  –  – 86  611 
G Waugh 306  113 98  –  –  102  79  –  –  –  698 
D Naidoo 336  113 106  124  –  –  79  –  –  –  758 

Total 2 218  226 204  394  122  260  259  106  162 86  4 037
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R’000 2016 2015

21 Investment income
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:  1 200 503  971 034 

 50 993  37 729 
1 149 510  933 305 

 56 976  47 964 

Investment income per Statement of Comprehensive Income  1 257 479  1 018 998 

Financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss:
 56 976  48 155 

 –  191 
 56 976  47 964 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
 1 149 510  933 305 

Total interest income  1 206 486  981 460 

22 Net gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Net fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss : 17 334  213 239 

Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:  180 725  315 387 

 126 213  23 368 
 598  671 

 –  290 923 
5 574  425 

 48 340 

Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss : (163 391)

 (64 229)
(2 759)

 (88 161)
 (7 845)

 (397)

Net fair value gains/(losses) on derivative financial instruments:  246 944

 255 039  8 823 
 (8 095)

Net fair value gains on cash and cash equivalents –  1 454 

 264 278  6 504 



 
 

115Financials

R’000 2016 2015

23 Sundry income
 –  191 

 2 433  3 678 
 (74)  3 649 

 2 359  7 518 

24 Interest paid
Financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss:

 287 923  232 141 
 2 119  118 

 290 042  232 259 

25 Reserves transferred from other medical schemes

 –  198 
 –

 –  67 

26 Amalgamations

27 Related party transactions

 Key management personnel and their close family members 

 Parties with significant influence over the Scheme    
 Administrator
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27 Related party transactions continued
 Transactions with related parties

R’000 2016 2015

Statement of Comprehensive Income transactions

Compensation

 (26 381)
 (3 000)

Contributions

 724  795 
 (281)
 (163)

1 2

Statement of Financial Position transactions
 5 614  1 071 

 9 738  5 136 
 (4 124)

 35  17 
 (10)

–

Transactions Nature of transactions and their terms and conditions
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R’000 2016 2015

27 Related party transactions continued

Transactions with entities that have significant influence over the Scheme
Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd – Administrator

 (4 150 194)
 –  191 

 (2 119)

 (351 510)

Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd – Managed care organisation

 (1 407 267)

 (118 414)

Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd – Brokers

Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd – Wellness experiences

 (9 541)

(93)

Discovery Third Party Recovery Services (Pty) Ltd

 (22 030)

 20 540  12 024 

Southern RX Distributors (Pty) Ltd

 (145 325)

(1 837)

Grove Nursing Services (Pty) Ltd

 (9 677)

 (35)  1 
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27 Related party transactions continued

 Transactions with entities that have significant influence over the Scheme continued

 Administration agreement 

 

 

 

 

 Managed healthcare agreements

 Accredited managed healthcare services (no risk transfer)
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27 Related party transactions continued

 Transactions with entities that have significant influence over the Scheme continued

 

 

 

 

 Third party collection services

 Specialist Pharmaceutical Services 

 Wellness experiences 

 Home-based nursing services

 Broker service fees
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28 Surplus/(deficit) from operations per benefit plan

2016
Executive

R’000

Classic
Comp
R’000

Classic
Comp 

Zero 
MSA 

R’000

Classic
Core

R’000

Classic
Saver 
R’000

Classic 
Priority

R’000

Essential
Comp
R’000

Essential
Saver
R’000

Risk contribution income 875 516 9 802 065 51 050 1 857 849 9 115 477 4 202 272 1 014 102 2 885 453

1 340 18 811 102 6 396 33 086 11 807 2 254 13 164

 

7 489 95 835 618 9 512

Relevant healthcare 
expenditure (1 172 683) (9 918 295) (49 134) (1 397 511) (7 078 693) (3 492 244) (858 660) (1 918 469)

Gross healthcare result (297 167) (116 230) 1 916 460 338 2 036 784 710 028 155 442 966 984

Net healthcare result (350 528) (872 500) (2 040) 222 363 770 463 240 953 64 174 494 915

10 968 154 294 818 50 982 263 050 95 799 18 438 100 903

assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 2 370 33 385 174 10 798 55 540 20 560 3 986 20 697

20 308 95 498 184 33 184

Other income 13 358 187 987 991 61 875 319 088 116 543 22 457 121 784

Other expenditure (4 078) (57 375) (23) (1 342) (97 804) (35 620) (6 855) (37 506)

Net (deficit)/surplus 
for the year (341 248) (741 888) (1 072) 282 896 991 747 321 876 79 776 579 193
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28 Surplus/(deficit) from operations per benefit plan continued

2016

Essential
Core

R’000

Essential
Priority

R’000

Coastal
Saver
R’000

Coastal
Core

R’000

KeyCare
Plus

R’000

KeyCare
Core

R’000

KeyCare
Access

R’000
Smart
R’000

Total
R’000

Risk contribution 
income 1 013 633 297 133 5 385 228 2 413 696 4 207 970 220 866 57 055 227 033 43 626 398

 
recoveries 4 684 921 22 964 10 693 28 994 1 831 627 1 448 159 122

31 190

 

235 772 1 697 350 923

healthcare services 

Relevant healthcare 
expenditure (700 386) (214 216) (4 696 164) (2 057 380) (4 184 382) (142 556) (31 270) (123 855) (38 035 898)

Gross healthcare result 313 247 82 917 689 064 356 316 23 588 78 310 25 785 103 178 5 590 500

Net healthcare result 150 825 46 821 (184 640) (32 915) (579 629) 54 655 16 968 62 567 102 452

35 499 7 465 182 695 84 590 224 314 13 832 4 846 8 986 1 257 479

assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 7 236 1 604 38 516 17 766 46 306 2 820 1 013 1 507 264 278

65 13 343 158 411 25 10 13 2 359

Other income 42 800 9 082 221 554 102 514 271 031 16 677 5 869 10 506 1 524 116

Other expenditure (931) (2 775) (67 925) (2 233) (5 920) (365) (130) (236) (321 118)

Net surplus/(deficit) 
for the year 192 694 53 128 (31 011) 67 366 (314 518) 70 967 22 707 72 837 1 305 450
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28 Surplus/(deficit) from operations per benefit plan continued

2015 R’000

Classic

R’000

Classic

Zero 

R’000

Classic
Core

R’000

Classic
Saver 
R’000

Classic 

R’000 R’000
Saver
R’000

Risk contribution income 830 871 9 626 771 43 280 1 763 910 8 085 165 4 009 464 1 043 009 2 465 336

671 9 894 41 3 094 14 104 5 900 1 299 5 063

 

 
5 836 71 701 466 7 358

healthcare services 

Relevant healthcare 
expenditure (1 106 903) (9 574 081) (40 919) (1 280 050) (6 108 835) (3 277 972) (863 900) (1 613 573)

Gross healthcare result (276 032) 52 690 2 361 483 860 1 976 330 731 492 179 109 851 763

Net healthcare result (327 852) (705 166) (1 007) 252 574 836 034 274 276 84 833 447 062

10 405 151 633 473 33 587 232 309 91 660 18 856 84 714

assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 106 1 529 6 294 1 481 800 188 154

69 1 002 3 321 1 542 606 124 564

Other income 10 580 154 164 482 34 202 235 332 93 066 19 168 85 432

 

Net (deficit)/surplus 
for the year (320 737) (601 499) (544) 285 423 993 912 336 804 97 722 504 202
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28 Surplus/(deficit) from operations per benefit plan continued

2015
Core

R’000 R’000

Coastal
Saver
R’000

Coastal
Core

R’000
Plus

R’000
Core

R’000 R’000
Total
R’000

Risk contribution income 870 164 302 973 4 784 988 2 179 506 3 803 900 205 967 51 437 40 066 741

1 825 539 9 957 4 814 12 370 860 305 70 736

30 742

 

221 713 307 074

healthcare services  

Relevant healthcare 
expenditure (612 854) (195 569) (4 103 158) (1 802 130) (3 784 454) (106 187) (33 042) (34 503 627)

Gross healthcare result 257 310 107 404 681 830 377 376 19 446 99 780 18 395 5 563 114

Net healthcare result 116 004 69 699 (110 686) 12 845 (529 518) 77 632 10 227 506 957

20 861 7 662 162 740 53 623 138 494 8 882 3 099 1 018 998

assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 68 1 045 381 456 13 6 6 504

201 51 1 079 513 1 328 85 30 7 518

Other income 21 039 7 781 164 864 54 517 140 278 8 980 3 135 1 033 020

Other expenditure (853) (2 553) (54 262) (2 164) (5 621) (361) (126) (263 837)

Net surplus/(deficit) 
for the year 136 190 74 927 (84) 65 198 (394 861) 86 251 13 236 1 276 140
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R’000 2016 2015

29 Cash flows from operations before working capital changes
 1 305 450  1 276 140 

 75 167  71 193 
 (1 206 486)

 (50 993)
 290 042  232 259 

 3 000  1 894 
 (264 278)

 151 902  555 793 

Reconciliation of movements in the cash flow statement

29.1 Increase in trade and other receivables  (500 589)

 1 632 586  1 604 550 
(2 058 008)

 (75 167)

29.2 Increase in trade and other payables  123 640  151 366 

(1 182 605)
 1 306 245  1 182 605 

29.3 Purchases of financial instruments  (1 922 170)

 (1 922 170)

29.4 Proceeds from sale of financial instruments  1 258 510  4 339 081 

 1 127 159  4 465 329 
 131 351 

30 Events after the reporting period
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31 Insurance risk management report

 Nature and extent of risks arising from insurance contracts

 Insurance risk

 Hospital benefits

 Day-to-day benefits 

 Chronic benefits 
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31 Insurance risk management report continued

 Hospital benefit risk

 — 2016    — 2015    — 2014    — 2013
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Hospital Admission Rate
(Indexed to Jan 2013 = 100) 
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 Day-to-day benefits risk    

 
— 2016    — 2015    — 2014    — 2013
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31 Insurance risk management report continued

 Chronic benefits risk    

 
— 2016    — 2015    — 2014    — 2013
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 Risk management    
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31 Insurance risk management report continued

 Concentration of insurance risk

 Risk transfer arrangements

 Risk in terms of risk transfer arrangements

 Claims development     
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31 Insurance risk management report continued

 Concentration of insurance risk continued    

 

R’000 2016 2015

Total estimate of incurred claims
 26 807 352  24 063 065 

 2 271 897  2 052 610 
 7 745 832  7 033 552 

Change in variable
%

Impact on 
outstanding 

claims 
provision

2016
R’000

provision
2015
R’000

318 755  233 675
 7 682  8 687 

 78 728  67 418 

 Liquidity risk 

 Assumption risk

32 Financial risk management report

 Overview     
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Overview continued

 

 

 

 

 

 Personal Medical Savings Account trust assets

 Market risk

R’000 Total Currency risk Price risk

31 December 2016

Investments  12 211 677 

 1 245 709 
 2 049 834 
 3 413 740 

 610 476 
 4 891 918 

31 December 2015

Investments  11 399 332 

 1 335 137 
 1 415 647 
 3 058 012 

 464 574 
 5 125 962 
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Currency risk 

 Currency derivatives financial instrument (zero-cost currency collars)

 

 

 Currency risk sensitivity analysis

 

 Price risk 

 Equity derivative financial instrument (zero-cost equity collars)
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Price risk continued

  At the time of expiry the following transactions could occur depending on the level at which the equity index trades:
 

  
 

 Equity price risk sensitivity analysis     
 

 

 Interest rate risk 

As at 31 December 2016
0 – 3 Months

R’000
3 – 12 Months

R’000
> 12 Months

R’000
Total
R’000

 2 397 788  –  –  2 397 788 
 

profit or loss –  4 891 918  –  4 891 918 
 –  3 413 740  –  3 413 740
 –  610 476  –  610 476
 –  1 245 709  –  1 245 709 

R’000 R’000 R’000
Total
R’000

 2 198 127  2 198 127 
 

profit or loss  5 125 962  5 125 962 
 3 058 012  3 058 012 

 464 574  464 574 
 1 335 137  1 335 137 

% 2016 2015
7.40
7.23
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Interest rate risk continued 
 Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

 Legal risk 

 Investment risk

 Breakdown of investments 
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32 Financial risk management report continued

Breakdown of investments continued 

Segregated 
Funds

Collective 
Investment 

Schemes
Policy of 

Insurance Total

31 December 2016

Investments  10 965 968  672 885  572 824  12 211 677 

 –  672 885  572 824  1 245 709 
 2 049 834  –  –  2 049 834 
 3 413 740  –  –  3 413 740 

 610 476  –  –  610 476 
 4 891 918  –  –  4 891 918 

Cash and cash equivalents:  940 981  1 456 807  –  2 397 788 

 11 906 949  2 129 692  572 824  14 609 465 

31 December 2015

Investments  10 064 195  716 812  618 325  11 399 332 

 716 812  618 325  1 335 137 
 1 415 647  1 415 647 
 3 058 012  3 058 012 

 464 574  464 574 
 5 125 962  5 125 962 

Cash and cash equivalents:  842 123  1 356 004  2 198 127 

 10 906 318  2 072 816  618 325  13 597 459 

 Money Market Portfolios      

 Local portfolios      

 Bond portfolios      
 Local portfolios      
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Breakdown of investments continued 
 Offshore portfolios      

 Inflation linked bonds       

 Equity portfolios:      
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Breakdown of investments continued 

Financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value 

through profit and loss

Designated 
upon initial 
recognition

R’000

Classified 
as held for

 trading
R’000

Loans and 
receivables

R’000

Insurance 
receivables 

and 
(payables)

R’000

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised
 cost
R’000

Total
 carrying 
amount

R’000

Fair value 
amount

R’000

31 December 2016

Investments
 1 245 709 – -  –  –  1 245 709  1 245 709 
 2 049 834  –  –  –  –  2 049 834  2 049 834 
 3 413 740 –  –  –  –  3 413 740  3 413 740 

 610 476 –  –  –  –  610 476  610 476 
 4 891 918 –  –  –  –  4 891 918  4 891 918 

Cash and cash equivalents:
 –  –  2 397 788  –  –  2 397 788  2 397 788

trust assets  4 142 672  4 142 672 4 142 672 
Trade and other receivables  –  –  179 900  1 878 108  –  2 058 008 2 058 008 
Personal Medical Savings Accounts  –  –  (4 204 043)  –  (4 204 043) (4 204 043) 
Trade and other payables  –  –  – (784 555)  (521 690) (1 306 245) (1 306 245) 
Derivatives held for trading

 –  50 384  –  –  –  50 384 50 384 

12 211 677  50 384  2 516 317  1 093 553  (521 690) 15 350 241 15 350 241 
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32 Financial risk management report continued

upon initial 
recognition

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Financial 

cost
R’000

Total

R’000

Fair value

R’000

31 December 2015

Investments
 1 335 137  1 335 137  1 335 137 
 1 415 647  1 415 647  1 415 647 
 3 058 012  3 058 012  3 058 012 

 464 574  464 574  464 574 
 5 125 962  5 125 962  5 125 962 

Cash and cash equivalents:
 2 198 127  2 198 127  2 198 127 

trust assets  3 667 456  3 667 456  3 667 456 
Trade and other receivables  107 266  1 525 320  1 632 586  1 632 586 
Personal Medical Savings Accounts
Trade and other payables
Derivatives held for trading

11 399 332  2 236 190 810 420 13 913 027 13 913 027 
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Credit risk 
 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Scheme, if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.

 Key areas where the Scheme is exposed to credit risk are through its trade and other receivables, investments and cash.

 Trade and other receivables
  Trade and other receivables comprise of insurance receivables and loans and receivables. The main components of insurance receivables 

are in respect of contributions due from members and amounts recoverable from members in respect of claims debt.

 Exposure to credit risk
 The carrying amount of trade and other receivables represents the maximum credit exposure. 

  The Scheme ages and pursues unpaid accounts on a monthly basis. The tables below highlights Trade and other receivables which are 
due and past due (by number of days).

Total member and service provider claims receivables

R’000

Active 
member 

claims 
receivables

Withdrawn 
member claims 

receivables

Service 
provider claims 

receivables Total
Contribution

receivables

Other 
risk 

transfer
arrangements

Broker fee 
receivables

Other 
insurance 

receivables
Loans and 

receivables Total

31 December 2016
Not past due 2 395  5 150  10 249  17 794  1 615 128  24 426  (90)  138 781  179 900 1 975 939
Past due 0 – 30 days 1 677  6 474  8 720  16 871  8 712  –  (78)  –  – 25 505
Past due 31 – 60 days 1 751  8 539  (2 511)  7 779  6 972  –  (13 524)  –  – 1 227
Past due 61 – 90 days 2 757  8 250  1 295  12 302  (7 135)  –  15 370  –  – 20 537
Past due 91 – 120 days 2 918  8 809  11 616  23 343  15 709  –  95  –  – 39 147
Past due 121 – 150 days 2 305  10 447  (4 980)  7 772  –  –  55  –  – 7 827
151 days to more than one year 29 308  227 748  (1 444)  255 612  –  –  120  –  – 255 732

Gross receivables 43 111 275 417 22 945 341 473 1 639 386 24 426 1 948 138 781 179 900 2 325 914

Provision for impairments (26 707) (220 454) (10 122) (257 283) (9 759) - (864) - - (267 906)
Trade and other receivables neither past 
due nor impaired 16 404 54 963 12 823 84 190 1 629 627 24 426 1 084 138 781 179 900 2 058 008

31 December 2015
Not past due  1 239  4 217  8 796  14 252  1 379 759  7 520  11 394  60 869  107 266  1 581 060 
Past due 0 – 30 days  2 330  6 583  2 119  11 032  9 595  –  317  –  –  20 944 
Past due 31 – 60 days  4 023  7 653  (5 731)  5 945  4 514  –  (242)  –  –  10 217 
Past due 61 – 90 days  1 904  6 598  6 834  15 336  6 261  –  (22)  –  –  21 575 
Past due 91 – 120 days  2 321  9 872  (1 112)  11 081  (3 992)  –  (441)  –  –  6 648 
Past due 121 – 150 days  3 015  9 977  (5 904)  7 088  –  –  11  –  –  7 099 
151 days to more than one year  24 476  183 021  6 614  214 111  –  –  (10 122)  –  –  203 989 

Gross receivables  39 308  227 921  11 616  278 845  1 396 137  7 520  895  60 869  107 266  1 851 532 

Provision for impairments  (22 196)  (178 471)  (7 862)  (208 529)  (9 633)  –  (784)  –  –  (218 946)
Trade and other receivables neither past 
due nor impaired  17 112  49 450  3 754  70 316  1 386 504  7 520  111  60 869  107 266  1 632 586 

Based on past experience, the Scheme believes that no provision for impairment is required in respect of Contribution debtors that are 
past due and outstanding for less than 90 days. For member and service provider claims debtors and broker fee debtors that are past 
due and outstanding for less than 180 days, past experience has indicated that no provision is required. The Scheme has not 
renegotiated the terms of receivables and does not hold any collateral or guarantees as security.
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Exposure to credit risk continued
 Provision for impairment     
  The Scheme establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other 

receivables. The provision is based on the expected difference between the current carrying amount and the amount recoverable from 
the counter party.     

 The main components of this provision are:

 A specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures; and
 A collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified.

 The collective loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets. 

 The movement in the provision for impairment, for each component of trade and other receivables, during the year ended 31 December:

Trade and other receivables

Insurance receivables

R’000
Contribution 

receivables

Member and 
service 

provider
 claims 

receivables

Other 
risk 

transfer
arrangements

Broker fee 
receivables Total

Balance as at 1 January 2015  7 106  177 458  –  600  185 164 
Increase in provision for impairment  2 527  61 005  –  184  63 716 
Amounts utilised during the year  –  (29 934)  – –  (29 934)

Balance as at 31 December 2015  9 633  208 529  –  784  218 946 

Balance as at 1 January 2016 9 633 208 529  – 784 218 946
Increase in provision for impairment 126 76 422  – 81 76 629
Amounts utilised during the year – (27 668)  – (1) (27 669)

Balance as at 31 December 2016 9 759 257 283  – 864 267 906
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Credit quality
  The credit quality of Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired as presented on pages 138 to 139 can be 

assessed by reference to historical information about counterparty default.

 Contribution debtors 
  The Scheme collected over 97% (2015: 98%) of outstanding debt in January 2017. Therefore we can establish that the credit quality of 

contribution debtors is high. Consequently, no additional disclosure of the credit quality is provided. 

 Active member claims debtors 
 A provision for impairment covering 62% (2015: 56%) of the debtors has been raised and the Trustees are satisfied that this is adequate.

 Withdrawn member claims debtors 
  These amounts are due from members that have withdrawn from the Scheme. A provision for impairment covering 80% (2015: 78%) of 

the total amount due has been raised and the Trustees are satisfied that this is adequate. 

 Other insurance receivables and loans and receivables 
  These debtors mainly comprises of amounts due by hospitals, which are inherently of high quality. As agreed with the providers the 

majority of these receivables are recovered by reducing future provider payments providing a high certainty of recoverability and thus no 
further analysis has been performed on these receivables. 

  Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss, cash and cash equivalents and derivative financial 
instruments 

 The Scheme’s credit risk exposures as at 31 December were as follows:

R’000 2016 2015
 1 245 709  1 335 137 
 3 413 740  3 058 012 

 610 476  464 574 
 4 891 918  5 125 962 
 2 397 788  2 198 127 

 50 384  – 

12 610 015  12 181 812 
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Exposure to credit risk
  The Scheme manages credit risk through the appointment of reputable and appropriate asset managers, extensive diversification and 

ongoing monitoring and management of credit risk exposures and portfolio holdings.

  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash deposits with financial institutions. The risks associated with these deposits are managed by 
monitoring the Scheme’s exposure to external financial institutions against approved deposit limits per institution. Information regarding 
the credit quality of cash and cash equivalents is provided on pages 144 to 145.

 Derivative counterparties are limited to high credit quality financial institutions. 

  The Scheme’s credit risk policy guides the Scheme with respect to credit risk identification, measurement, monitoring and management in 
its oversight capacity. The policy provides for limits based on parameters such as:

 Instrument and counterparty exposure;
 Credit ratings;
 Geographical exposure;
 Industry exposure; and
 Expected loss.

 Compliance with the limits are regularly monitored with a quarterly report back presented to the Scheme’s Investment Committee.

  The Scheme has assessed whether the above financial assets are impaired. Based on the risk management measures undertaken by the 
Scheme, there is no objective evidence that any financial assets are impaired below the fair market value stated above.

 Credit rating scales 
  Credit ratings provide an opinion on the relative ability of an entity to meet its financial commitments, such as interest, dividends or the 

repayment of capital invested. They are used as indicators of the likelihood of receiving the amounts owed in accordance with the terms 
on which they were invested.

 Definitions of the symbols are presented below.      

 Short-term rating scales     
 F1: Highest short-term credit quality     
  F1 indicates the strongest intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments; they may have an added “”+”” to denote any 

exceptionally strong credit feature.     
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32 Financial risk management report continued
 Long-term rating scales
 AAA: Highest credit quality
  AAA ratings denote the lowest expectation of default risk and are assigned only in cases of exceptionally strong capacity for payment of 

financial commitments. This capacity is highly unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events.

 AA: Very high credit quality
  AA ratings denote expectations of very low default risk and indicate very strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This 

capacity is not significantly vulnerable to foreseeable events.

 A: High credit quality 
  A ratings denote expectations of low default risk. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered strong. This capacity 

may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to adverse business or economic conditions than is the case for higher ratings.

 BBB: Good credit quality
  BBB ratings indicate that expectations of default risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered 

adequate but adverse business or economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity.

  At 31 December 2016 1.8% (2015: 2.8%) of the Scheme’s Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss invested in instruments with 
this credit rating. 

 BB: Speculative
  BB ratings indicate an elevated vulnerability to default risk, particularly in the event of adverse changes in business or economic 

conditions over time, however business or financial flexibility exists which supports the servicing of financial commitments. 

  At 31 December 2016 1% (2015: 0.6%) of the Scheme’s Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss invested in instruments with 
this credit rating. 

 B: Highly speculative
  B ratings indicate that material default risk is present, but a limited margin of safety remains. Financial commitments are currently being 

met, however capacity for continued payment is vulnerable to deterioration in the business and economic environment.  

   At 31 December 2016 0.5% (2015: 0.5%) of the Scheme’s Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss invested in instruments with 
this credit rating. 

 CCC: Possibility of default

favourable business economic or financial conditions.

  At 31 December 2016 1.6% (2015: 2.6%) of the Scheme’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss invested in instruments with 
this credit rating. 

 CC: Very high levels of credit risk     
 Default of some kind appears probable.     

  At 31 December 2016 0% (2015: 0.1%) of the Scheme’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss invested in instruments with this 
credit rating.
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32 Financial risk management report continued
  The following table discloses the Scheme’s asset credit ratings using official credit ratings. The credit risk policy limits investments in 

non-investment grade instruments to a maximum of 10% after considering official credit ratings and asset manager assigned internal 
credit ratings where official ratings are not available. Less than 4% (2015: 4%) of the instruments are invested in non-investment grade 
instruments after consideration of internally assigned credit ratings.

Short–term rating Long–term rating Long–term rating

R’000 Total F1+ F1 Govt AAA AA+ to AA– A+ to A– BBB– to BBB+ BB– to BB+ B– to B+ CCC+ to CCC– CC+ Not rated

2016
At fair value through profit or loss: 10 161 843 833 313 5 779 565 317 1 380 392 2 360 938 3 718 408 223 471 128 709 57 319 189 501 – 698 696

1 245 709 843 5 282 – 242 723 445 651 221 380 113 316 128 709 57 319 4 460 – 26 026
3 413 740 54 870 497 60 997 565 333 980 241 1 066 578 110 155 – – 29 068 – 546 001

610 476 (21 377) – 445 255 16 688 31 581 138 329 – – – – – – 
4 891 918 798 977 – 59 065 555 648 903 465 2 292 121 – – – 155 973 – 126 669

Cash and cash equivalents 2 397 788 1 640 731 – 6 608 201 312 962 370 752 – – – 15 409 – 51 125

Total* 12 559 631 2 474 044 5 779 571 925 1 380 593 2 673 900 4 089 160 223 471 128 709 57 319 204 910 – 749 821

2015
At fair value through profit or loss:  9 983 685  856 196  10 142  592 441  1 400 390  1 959 844  3 879 452  346 423  116 706  55 001  290 665  7 525  468 900 

 1 335 137  11 766  10 110  62 487  208 689  217 671  307 201  218 849  116 706  55 001  9 645  7 525  109 487 
 3 058 012  16 323  32  205 127  549 463  1 058 456  740 692  127 165  35 339  325 415 

 464 574  (31 702)  318 724  1 015  15 271  161 266 
 5 125 962  859 809  6 103  641 223  668 446  2 670 293  409  245 681  33 998 

Cash and cash equivalents  2 198 127  1 370 052  40 756  528 382  203 198  3  20 468  35 268 

Total*  12 181 812  2 226 248  10 142  592 441  1 441 146  2 488 226  4 082 650  346 426  116 706  55 001  311 133  7 525  504 168 

 

  The Scheme’s investments in pooled funds and collective investment schemes (“funds”) are subject to the terms and conditions of the 
respective funds’ offering documentation and are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future values of those 

overall quality of the underlying funds’ managers. All of the funds in the investment portfolio are managed by portfolio managers who 
are compensated by the respective funds for their services. Such compensation generally consists of an asset-based fee and a 
performance-based incentive fee and is reflected in the valuation of the investment in each of the funds.

  These investments are included in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the statement of financial position and no other 
risks relating to these investments have been identified other than those already disclosed in previous sections of this report.
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Credit risk (continued)
 Credit quality (continued)
 The exposure to investments in unconsolidated structured entities is disclosed in the following table:

Name and 
description

 2016 
R’000

 Authorised 
programme/
market size

 % of 
authorised 

programme
size/market 

size
Fair value
hierarchy Debt ranking Credit ranking Underlying assets

Asset backed 
commercial 
paper

–  R25.3 billion 0.00% Level 1 – 100% Senior secured – 
0.01%

F1+: 100% Instalment sales 
agreements

Secured – 99.99% Corporate Loans
Credit card 
receivables
Bonds
Equipment Leases

Residential 
mortgage-backed 
securitisations

354 568  R43.6 billion 0.81% Level 1 – 93.52% Senior secured – 
78.65%

A to AAA: 91.50% 
BBB: 2.16% 

Prime Home Loans

Level 2 – 6.48% Secured – 18.39% Not Rated: 6.34%
Senior Unsecured 
– 2.96% 

Asset backed 
securitisations 

249 368 R27.7 billion 0.90% Level 1 – 71.11% Senior secured – 
89.89%

A to AAA: 
71.11%

Vehicle Loans 

Level 2 – 28.89% Secured – 5.64% BBB: 0.34% Corporate Loans
Senior Unsecured 
– 4.47% 

Not Rated: 28.55% Unsecured Loans

Equipment Leases

Commercial 
mortgage-backed 
securitisations

 24 401  R2.5 billion 0.98% Level 1 – 100% Senior secured AA to AAA: 100% Commercial Property

Collateralised 
loan obligations

 54 337  R17 billion 0.32% Level 1 – 100% Senior secured – 
0.01%

AA to AAA: 100% Vehicle Loans 

Secured – 59.41%
Unsecured 
– 40.58%

Collective 
investment 
schemes

3 692  R52.8 billion 0.01% Level 2 AA+ ABSA Money  
Market Fund

 917  R14.0 billion 0.01% Level 2 AA+ Nedgroup 
Investments Money 
Market Class C2

 –  R12.6 billion 0.00% Level 2 AA- Nedgroup 
Investments Core 
Income Fund Class 
C2

_  R9.2 billion 0.00% Level 2 AA+ Momentum Money 
Market Fund B6

 1 468  R26.4 billion 0.01% Level 2 AA+ Standard Bank 
Corporate Money 
Market Fund

 848  R13.7 billion 0.01% Level 2 AA+ Investec Corporate 
Money Market Fund

 672 885  R4.5 billion 0.02% Level 2 A Investec Target 
Return Fund
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Credit risk (continued)
 Credit quality (continued)

Name and 
description

2015
R’000

 Authorised 
programme/

market size

 % of 
Authorised 

programme 
size/market

 size
 Fair Value 
hierarchy Debt ranking  Credit ranking Underlying assets

Asset backed 
commercial 
paper

 5 086  R25.3 billion 0.02%  Level 1 – 100% Senior secured – 
0.01%

 F1+: 100% Instalment sales 
agreements

Secured – 99.99% Corporate Loans
Credit card 
receivables
Bonds

       Equipment Leases

Residential 
mortgage-backed 
securitisations

 429 092  R69.4 billion 0.62% Level 1 – 97.06%
Level 2 – 2.94%

Senior secured – 
26.24%
Secured – 72.44%
Senior Unsecured 
– 1.32%

A to AAA: 93.17%
Bbb: 1.67%
F1+: 2.22%
Not Rated: 2.94%

Prime Home Loans

Asset backed 
securitisations 

 233 452  R28.2 billion 0.83% Level 1 – 79.69%
Level 2 – 20.31% 

Senior secured – 
16.89%
Secured – 79.69%
Senior Unsecured 
– 3.42%

A to AAA: 79.01%
BBB: 0.39%
CCC: 2.17%
Not Rated: 18.43%

Vehicle Loans 
Corporate Loans
Unsecured Loans
Equipment Leases

Commercial 
mortgage-backed 
securitisations

 10 242  R2.5 billion 0.41% Level 1 – 100% Senior secured AA to AAA: 100% Commercial 
Property

Collateralised 
loan obligations

 64 033  R33.5 billion 0.19% Level 1 – 100% Senior secured – 
0.01%
Secured – 59.41%
Unsecured 
– 40.58%

AA to AAA: 100% Vehicle Loans 

Collective 
investment 
schemes

 8 135  R52.8 billion 0.02% Level 2 AA+ ABSA Money Market 
Fund

 1 317 999  R14.0 billion 9.42% Level 2 AA+ Nedgroup 
Investments Money 
Market Class C2

 1 325  R12.6 billion 0.01% Level 2 AA- Nedgroup 
Investments Core 
Income Fund Class 
C2

 751  R9.2 billion 0.01% Level 2 AA+ Momentum Money 
Market Fund B6

 4 818  R26.4 billion 0.02% Level 2 AA+ Standard Bank 
Corporate Money 
Market Fund

 1 421  R13.7 billion 0.01% Level 2 AA+ Investec Corporate 
Money Market Fund

 716 812  R4.5 billion 0.02% Level 2 A Investec Global 
Strategic Income 
Fund
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Liquidity risk     
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Scheme will not have sufficient liquid funds available to settle financial obligations as they fall due. 

  The Scheme’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, with significant conservative margin, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 
the Scheme’s reputation. In order to meet the conflicting objective of enhancing returns while also providing high liquidity, the combined 
Scheme portfolios have explicit constraints that guarantee liquidity of at least 20% of the Scheme assets within a period of one week. 

  The Scheme has complied with the requirements regarding the nature and categories of assets as prescribed by Section 35 and 
Regulation 30 of the Act.     

  Approximately 94% (R1.6 billion) (2015: 98% – R1.5 billion) of the Scheme’s insurance claim liabilities are settled within three months after 
the claim was incurred and the balance of the claims liability is settled within six months. The Scheme’s remaining insurance liabilities are 
generally settled within 30 days.     

  A maturity analysis for financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, excluding liabilities arising from insurance contracts is provided below:

Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 and 2 years

Between 
2 and 5 years

As at 31 December 2016
Personal Medical Savings Accounts (Note 8)  4 204 043  –  – 
Trade and other payables (Note 9)  521 690  –  – 

 4 725 733  –  – 

As at 31 December 2015
Personal Medical Savings Accounts (Note 8)  3 736 659  –  – 
Trade and other payables (Note 9)  467 705  –  – 

 4 204 364  –  – 

 Fair value estimation     
 Financial instruments     
  The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted 

market price used for financial assets held by the Scheme is the current closing price.     

  The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, investments in pooled funds and collective 
investment schemes) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market 
data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. Specific valuation techniques used to value financial 
instruments include quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

  The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their 
short term nature.      

 Personal Medical Savings Accounts     
  The members’ Personal Medical Savings Accounts contain a demand feature. In terms of Regulation 10 of the Act, any credit balance on a 

member’s Personal Medical Savings Account must be taken as a cash benefit when the member terminates his or her membership of the 
Scheme or benefit plan, and enrols in another benefit plan or medical scheme without a savings account or does not enrol in another 
medical scheme. Therefore the carrying values of the members’ Personal Medical Savings Accounts are deemed to be equal to their fair 
values, which is the amount payable on demand.
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Fair value hierarchy for financial assets measured at fair value
 Assets measured at fair value 

Fair value measurement at end of the year using:

R’000 R’000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2016
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

1 245 709 – 1 245 709 –
2 049 834 2 049 608 226 –
3 413 740 1 872 474 1 541 266 –

610 476 587 154 23 322 –
4 891 918 2 408 873 2 483 045 –

 12 211 677 6 918 109 5 293 568 –

2015
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

 1 335 137  –  1 335 137  – 
 1 415 647  1 413 048  2 599  – 
 3 058 012  1 477 038  1 545 635  35 339 

 464 574  454 127  10 447  – 
 5 125 962  2 334 946  2 545 335  245 681 

 11 399 332  5 679 159  5 439 153  281 020 

  During the 2015 financial year, investments in African Bank to the value of R281 million were classified under level 3 as a result of no 
trading activity in these instruments due to the curatorship. The valuation was determined using a discounted cash flow methodology 
based on information available in the market and incorporates certain assumptions applicable to these instruments. The discount rate 
was determined by adding a premium to comparative rates of similar institutions operating in the unsecured lending market. During the 
year under review, trading activity resumed on African Bank instruments and these have now been reclassified to Level 2. 

  The fair value assets are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in determining the 
measurements.  

 The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

 Level 1 – These are assets measured using quoted prices in an active market.

 Level 2 –  These are assets measured using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly 
observable.

 Level 3 – These are assets measured using inputs that are not based on observable market data.
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32 Financial risk management report continued

 Fair value hierarchy for financial assets measured at fair value continued
The table below details the valuation techniques and observable inputs for assets falling under Level 2: 

Fair value 
as at 

31 December 
2016

R’000

Fair value
 as at 

31 December 
2015
R’000

Valuation 
techniques

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss:

Unlisted:
Debt securities  2 810 297 2 891 219 Reference to  

listed benchmark 
bond

Risk free yield to maturity curve risk free 
zero curve

Money market securities 2 483 271  2 547 934 
 

Discounted cash  
flow valuation Black 
– Scholes model

Published exchange swap curve, published 
interest rate curve, published credit spread 
curve/implied credit spread curve, risk free 
yield to maturity curve, risk free zero curve, 
swap yield to maturity curve swap zero curve

5 293 568  5 439 153 

 Capital management
  The Scheme is subject to the capital requirement imposed by Regulation 29 (2) of the Act, which requires a minimum solvency ratio of 

accumulated funds expressed as a percentage of gross annual contributions to be 25%.     

  The Scheme’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain the capital requirements of the Act, and to safeguard the Scheme’s ability 
to continue as a going concern in order to provide benefits for its stakeholders.    

The calculation of the regulatory capital requirement is set out below.

R’000 2016 2015
Total members’ funds per Statement of Financial Position  14 234 461 12 929 011
Less: cumulative unrealised net gain on remeasurement of investments to fair value  – –

Accumulated funds per Regulation 29  14 234 461 12 929 011

Gross annual contribution income  54 056 212 49 759 756
Solvency margin
= Accumulated funds / gross annual contribution income x 100 26.33% 25.98%

At 31 December 2016, the Scheme’s regulatory capital level of 26.33% (2015: 25.98%) was R719 million (2015: R488 million) more than the 
statutory capital requirement of 25%.
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33 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
  The Scheme makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

 Outstanding claims provision
 The critical estimates and judgements relating to the outstanding claims provision are set out under Note 31.

 Other risk transfer arrangements    
 The critical estimates and judgements relating to other risk transfer arrangements are set out under Note 11.

 Impairment of assets    
  The critical estimates made by the Scheme are set out under Note 32 and judgements relating to the impairment of assets are set out 

under Note 7 of the Accounting policies.

34 Non-compliance matters  
  The Council for Medical Schemes issued Circular 11 of 2006 (the “Circular”) dealing with issues to be addressed in the audited financial 

statements of medical schemes. The Circular requires that all non-compliance matters noted should be disclosed in the audited financial 
statements, irrespective of whether the auditor considers it as material or immaterial.

 During the year the Scheme did not comply with the following Sections and Regulations of the Act.

 Statutory Scheme Solvency
   Under the Act, medical schemes are required to hold a minimum of 25% of gross annual contribution income as a reserve or 

accumulated funds (also known as the solvency ratio). The solvency ratio is a measure of a scheme’s ability to absorb unexpected 
changes in claims experience, demographics (e.g. average age, chronic profile, etc.) and legislative environments, and therefore 
reflects a scheme’s financial strength.

   During 2016, the Scheme’s solvency level dropped below 25% during January and November. The reason for the drop below 25% in 
January was attributable to the impact of annual contribution increases (schemes are required to hold reserves equal to annualised 
inflation-adjusted contributions from the first day of the financial year). Negative claims experience during November, in line with 
historic trends, caused the solvency ratio to drop below 25%.

   At 31 December 2016, the Scheme’s accumulated funds expressed as a percentage of gross annual contributions was 26.33% 
(2015: 25.98%), which exceeds the statutory solvency requirement of 25%.

 Sustainability of Benefit Plans
   In terms of Section 33 (2) of the Act, each benefit plan is required to be self-supporting in terms of membership and financial 

performance, and be financially sound.

  For the year ended 31 December 2016 the following plans did not comply with Section 33 (2):

Net 
healthcare 

result 
(R’000)

Net
surplus/

(deficit)
(R’000)

Benefit plan
Executive (350 528) (341 248)
Classic Comprehensive (872 500) (741 888)
Classic Comprehensive Zero MSA (2 040) (1 072)
Coastal Saver (184 640) (31 011)
Coastal Core (32 915) 67 366
KeyCare Plus (579 629) (314 518)
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34 Non-compliance matters continued  
   The performance of all benefit options is monitored on a continuous basis with a view to improving their financial outcomes, and we 

continually evaluate different strategies to address the deficit in these plans.

   When structuring benefit options, the financial sustainability of all the options is considered. The different financial positions reflect 
the different disease burdens in each option, among many other factors. The Scheme’s strategy on the sustainability of plans has to 
balance short- and long-term financial considerations, fairness to both healthy and sick members, and continued affordability of 
cover for members with different levels of income and healthcare needs. While the Scheme is committed to complying wherever 
possible with the applicable legislation, it also focuses intensively on the overall stability and financial position of the Scheme as a 
whole and not only individual benefit plans.

   In addition, DHMS continually provides the Registrar with updates on both the Scheme and individual benefit option performance 
through the monthly management accounts and quarterly monitoring meetings.

Investment in Employer Groups and Medical Scheme Administrators
   Section 35 (8) (a) and (c) of the Act states that a medical scheme shall not invest any of its assets in the business of an employer who 

participates in the Scheme, or any administrator or any arrangement associated with the Scheme. The Scheme has investments in 
certain employer groups and companies associated with medical scheme administration within its diversified investment portfolio. 
This situation occurs industry-wide. CMS granted DHMS exemption from these sections of the Act up to 21 April 2018. 

Investments in other assets in territories outside the Republic of South Africa
   The Scheme’s offshore bond managers utilise derivative instruments to aid with efficient portfolio construction and management, 

and to reduce the overall risk within our portfolios. The derivatives used are highly liquid and are either exchange traded or governed 
by International Swaps and Derivatives Association agreements. The derivative instruments are not used for speculation and there is 
no gearing or leverage applied. Investments in derivatives in territories outside the Republic of South Africa are, however, prohibited 
in terms of Category 7 (b) of Annexure B to the Regulations of the Medical Schemes Act 131 of 1998.

  The Scheme’s was granted an exemption to invest in offshore derivatives, subject to certain conditions, up to 31 December 2018.

   During August and September, a breach of the Scheme’s foreign derivative exemption (Category 7 (b) of Annexure B) occurred where 
the Investec Target Return Bond Fund portfolio (collective investment scheme) derivative exposure was greater than 2.5% due to 
large foreign exchange fluctuations as a result of Brexit. The breach was rectified on 21 September 2016. This was duly reported to 

the fair value of the Scheme’s total offshore derivative exposures was only 0.19% of the aggregate fair value of Scheme liabilities and 
minimum accumulated funds at 31 August 2016.
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34 Non-compliance matters continued  
Contributions received after due date

    Section 26 (7) of the Act states that all subscriptions or contributions shall be paid directly to a medical scheme not later than three 
days after payment becomes due. There are instances where the Scheme received contributions after the three days; however, there 
are no contracts in place agreeing to this practice. It is important to note that the Scheme has no control over the timely payment of 
contributions. The legal obligation resides with the members/employers to pay contributions within the prescribed period.

    DHMS however employ robust credit control processes dealing with the collection of outstanding contributions, including the 
suspension of membership for non-payment.

Broker fees paid
    In terms of Regulation 28 (5) of the Act, broker fees shall be paid on a monthly basis on receipt by a medical scheme of the relevant 

monthly contribution in accordance with the maximum amount payable per Regulation 28 (2), limited to one broker as required by 
Regulation 28 (8). 

   In some instances brokers were compensated prior to receipt of the relevant monthly contribution, the amount paid was more than 
the prescribed amount and more than one broker per member was paid. In the instances where brokers were paid above the 
prescribed amount or more than one broker was paid, the value is negligible and represents less than 0.02% of the total broker fees 
paid for the year. The exceptions relate to transactions that do not occur frequently and the Administrator has developed exception 
reporting to identify and correct these transactions, and has a well-established claw-back system to rectify commission 
overpayments.

Claims paid in excess of 30 days
   Section 59 (2) of the Act states that: “A medical scheme shall, in the case where an account has been rendered, subject to the 

provisions of this Act and the rules of the medical scheme concerned, pay to a member or a supplier of service, any benefit owing to 
that member or supplier of service within 30 days after the day on which the claim in respect of such benefit was received by the 
medical scheme.” 

   During the process of transitioning to a new claims administration platform, quality assurance processes were significantly extended 
to ensure valid, accurate and complete processing of claims on the new claims administration platform. This process resulted in a 
delay in the processing of claims payments. A total number of 34 claims were identified that were paid later than 30 days after claims 
notification date. The value of exceptions should be considered in the context of net claims incurred of R36.6 billion during 2016. 
Exceptions identified pertained to a specific event i.e. transitioning to a new claims administration platform and thus no further 
action is required. The claims administration platform is set up to ensure payments occur within regulatory requirements.
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07
Who to contact when you

  HAVE ANY QUERIES ABOUT YOUR HEALTH PLAN
Email healthinfo@discovery.co.za or call 0860 99 88 77 
(+27 11 541 1222 when overseas). Remember to put your 
membership number in the subject line of the email.

  HAVE A MEDICAL EMERGENCY
Call 0860 999 911 (+27 11 541 1222 when overseas). Remember to 
have your membership number ready.

  WANT TO SUBMIT A CLAIM
Email claims@discovery.co.za. Remember to put your membership 
number in the subject line of the email.

  HAVE A QUERY ABOUT HOW A CLAIM WAS PAID
www.discovery.co.za/portal/individual/claims-search. You will need 
to be logged into the website to find the information you need.

  WANT TO FIND INFORMATION ABOUT HOW WE COVER 
CERTAIN PROCEDURES

www.discovery.co.za/portal/individual/what-we-cover. You will 
need to be logged into the website to find the information you need.

  WANT TO FIND A DOCTOR WHERE YOU WON’T HAVE TO PAY 
A CO-PAYMENT

www.discovery.co.za/portal/individual/maps-new. You will need to 
be logged into the website to find the information you need.

  WANT TO GET PRE-AUTHORISATION FOR HOSPITAL STAYS, 
OR FIND OUT ABOUT GOING TO HOSPITAL

www.discovery.co.za/portal/individual/going-to-hospital. You will 
need to be logged into the website to apply for authorisation.

  NEED A DOCUMENT, FOR EXAMPLE, A TAX CERTIFICATE 
OR MEMBERSHIP CERTIFICATE

www.discovery.co.za/portal/individual/find-a-document. You will 
need to be logged into the website to find the information you need.

COUNCIL FOR MEDICAL SCHEMES 
CONTACT DETAILS
DHMS is regulated by the Council for Medical Schemes (CMS).

The CMS can be contacted telephonically on 0861 123 267 or via 
email on information@medicalschemes.com.

The CMS is located at Block A, Eco Glades 2 Office Park, 
420 Witch-Hazel Avenue, Eco Park, Centurion, 0157.

PRINCIPAL OFFICER CONTACT DETAILS
Email principalofficer@discovery.co.za or call +27 11 529 2888 
and ask for the Principal Officer of Discovery Health Medical 
Scheme (DHMS).

 More information about DHMS is available at 
www.discovery.co.za/portal/individual/about-discovery-
health-medical-scheme. 
A full version of the Scheme Rules is available to registered 
members at 
www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/scheme-rules.

 More information about the various health plans offered by 
the Scheme are available at www.discovery.co.za/portal/
individual/medical-aid-plan-range. 

 The Medical Schemes Act 131 of 1998, as amended, 
which regulates medical schemes, is available on the 
Council for Medical Schemes’ website at 
www.medicalschemes.com/Content.aspx?130.

The International Integrated Reporting Framework and 
related resources can be found at 
http://integratedreporting.org/.

The King Code of Governance for South Africa 2009 
(King III) and the King IV Report on Corporate Governance 
for South Africa 2016 (King IV) can be found at 
www.iodsa.co.za/?page=kingIII.

Important sources of information
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or lodge a dispute
Email healthinfo@discovery.co.za   

 
www.discovery.co.za.

  When you want to escalate a complaint to which 
you haven’t received a satisfactory answer

Email healthinfo@discovery.co.za

  When you want to contact the Principal Officer 

Email principalofficer@discovery.co.za or call +27 11 529 2888 and 

  When you want to lodge a formal dispute
Email mydispute@discovery.co.za or call +27 11 529 2888 and ask 

  When you want to submit a complaint to the 
Council for Medical Schemes (CMS)

Email complaints@medicalschemes.com  
Customer Care on 0861 123 267

     If you want to report fraud 
or unethical behaviour

 
forensics@discovery.co.za 

on the Scheme’s Integrated 
Annual Report
We would welcome specific feedback on the following:

 

 

 

relationship with the Scheme?

 

 dhms_stakeholders@discovery.co.za

 Toll-free phone: 0800 0045 00

 Toll-free fax: 0800 00 77 88

 Email: discovery@tip-offs.com

 Post: Freepost DN298, Umhlanga Rocks 4320

Want to choose the best plan for you 
and your family?

Financial advisers must be registered with the Financial 
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PRINCIPAL OFFICER

REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS  
AND POSTAL ADDRESS

PO Box 78622
Sandton, 2146

ADMINISTRATOR AND MANAGED 
CARE PROVIDER

PO Box 786722
Sandton, 2146

AUDITORS 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Incorporated
2 Eglin Road 

Private Bag X36 
Sunninghill, 2157

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Cnr Pritchard & Simmonds Streets

PO Box 7791
Johannesburg, 2000

REGISTERED ADDRESSES
INVESTEC ASSET MANAGEMENT 
(PTY) LTD

Foreshore 

PO Box 1826
Cape Town, 8000

Sandown

PO Box 785700
Sandton, 2146

MAZI ASSET MANAGEMENT

Sandton
2196

LIBERTY CORPORATE

25 Ameshoff Street
Braamfontein

TAQUANTA ASSET MANAGERS 
(PTY) LTD 

PO Box 23540
Claremont, 7735

ABAX INVESTMENTS (PTY) LTD 

PO Box 23851
Claremont, 7735

ALUWANI CAPITAL PARTNERS

24 Georgian Crescent East

2152

FUTUREGROWTH ASSET 
MANAGEMENT (PTY) LTD

Building

Private Bag X6 
Newlands, 7725

ELECTUS FUND MANAGERS  
(PTY) LTD
Ground Floor
Great Westerford Building

PO Box 23540
Cape Town, 8000

ALLAN GRAY INVESTMENTS  
(PTY) LTD
1 Silo Square

PO Box 51318
V&A Waterfront 
Cape Town, 8002

INVESTMENT MANAGERS 

Information Toolkit continued
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GLOSSARY
www.discovery.co.za/portal/medical-aid/terminology

Administration
 

 

Benefits

benefits include Hospital Benefits, Chronic Illness Benefits and Day-to-day Benefits

Board of Trustees 

Brokers

Claims paying ability

Claims provision

Consumer Price Index (CPI)

Council for Medical 
Schemes  

Dependant

Designated Service 
Provider (DSP)

Discovery Limited 
 

Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd

Discovery Health Medical 
Scheme (DHMS or the 
Scheme)  
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Discovery Health Medical 
Scheme Rules (Scheme 
Rules or the Rules)

Discovery Vitality

Financial advisers  
(brokers)

Formulary See Medicine list

Global Credit Rating Co. 
(GCR)

Incurred but not reported 
(IBNR)

 

King Code of Governance 
Principles and the King 
Report on Governance 
(King III), and the King IV 
Report (King IV)

The King Code is a set of guidelines for the governance structures and operations of organisations in 

Managed care

Material matters

Medical Savings Account

 

Medical Schemes Act 131 
of 1998, as amended 
(the Act)

 
See www.medicalschemes.com/Content.aspx?130

Glossary continued
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Medicine list

Member

Networks and network 
providers

Non-healthcare expenses

Open (unrestricted) 
scheme

 

Prescribed Minimum 
Benefit conditions

 

 

 

The three requirements are:

Restricted (closed) scheme

Scheme Rules See Discovery Health Medical Scheme Rules

Solvency

Vested® ®

collaborative business relationships that enable true win-win relationships in which both parties are 
® approach fosters an environment 

®

Vitality See Discovery Vitality

Find more terms at www.discovery.co.za/portal/medical-aid/terminology.
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Discovery Health Medical Scheme 

Contact Centre  0860 99 88 77  |  healthinfo@discovery.co.za  |  www.discovery.co.za

www.discovery.co.za 

Discovery Health Medical Scheme is regulated by the Council for Medical Schemes. 




